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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China
Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited (the “Company”), |
am pleased to present the annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”).

Due to the relentless efforts to develop Global Carbon Neutral
Business, the Group recorded a segment profit of approximately
HK$149.0 million for the Year of this business. As a result,
the Group recorded a strong turnaround in operating profit
for the Year of approximately HK$41.7 million (2020: loss of
approximately HK$286.1 million). The profit attributable to owners
of the Company for the Year was approximately HK$267.7 million
(2020: approximately HK$302.0 million).

GLOBAL CARBON NEUTRAL BUSINESS

The Group commenced Global Carbon Neutral Business in early
2021. It established a unique market position for the carbon
neutral related operations with a primary focus on carbon credit
asset development, operation and management, investment,
carbon consulting and carbon neutral planning. Through actively
deploying negative carbon emissions as basic industry, the Group
achieved a unique collaborative development approach that
combines new asset development and management with industry
and created a sustainable and high-return business model in
carbon neutral business.

In alignment with the development of carbon neutral business, the
Group carried out strategy evaluation and formed a professional
team to enhance and optimize the organizational structure and
management team and establish a new organizational structure
and management style adapted to its new business.
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As for carbon asset operation and management business, this
segment focuses on carbon asset development, operation and
management originated from the provision of carbon consulting,
auditing and development services. A leading business model which
integrates carbon asset development, operation and management
is thus created. As the core asset under management, the carbon
asset operation and management business will be extended
to other areas, including but not limited to carbon trading,
carbon options and futures, carbon index, repurchase of carbon
mortgage and carbon custody. During the Year, the Group made
relentless efforts to expand carbon asset development, operation
and management business, including implementation of carbon
asset development projects, expansion and commercialization
of informatization technology, expansion of carbon consulting
business and enhancement of infrastructure development.

As for carbon negative business, the Group’s industry carbon
negative business segment focuses on the development and
application of negative carbon technology, including “carbon
utilization and storage (“CCUS") technology. The
nature carbon negative business segment redefines forestry and
agriculture and carries out carbon sink consulting and trading
through investment in afforestation and cooperative development
of forest carbon sink, resulting in sustainable green investment in
the long run.

capture,

CIVIL ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION
BUSINESS

For the Year, the Civil Engineering and Construction Business
managed to record a stable performance, despite of the grave
challenges from the COVID-19 outbreak and the economic
downslope in Hong Kong.

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had 14 significant projects
in progress. Four of them were building construction and
maintenance projects while the remaining were civil engineering
construction projects. As of 31 December 2021, the total contract
sum and the total outstanding values of the Group’s substantial
projects in progress were approximately HK$626 million and
HK$343 million respectively (31 December 2020: approximately
HK$536.6 million and HK$197.4 million respectively).

Chairman’s Statement
EFEHRE
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

OUTLOOK

For the Global Carbon Neutral Business, the Group will continue
to develop carbon asset projects for business partners in 2022.
In addition, the Group will carry out the first CCUS project for
its client. As a company focusing on the development of the
carbon neutral business, the Company aims to promote carbon
neutral business and eco-friendly awareness to the whole society
all walks of life as well as to promote the implementation of
carbon neutrality and contribute to the global response to climate
change. The Group has been making effective use of resources and
investing in projects and enterprises that truly reduce emissions
and respond well to climate change.

For the Civil Engineering and Construction Business, although
the operating environment in Hong Kong is expected to remain
tough in the coming years such as continuously rising wages
and cost of construction materials and shortage of skilled labors,
the Company is confident that the Group would be capable of
securing promising business opportunities given its vast experience
in handling a wide variety of construction works.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to
our management team and staff for their dedication commitment,
as well as all of our customers, suppliers, shareholders, business
partners and associates for their support and encouragement to
the Group.

Chan Tan Na Donna
Chairman of the Board
Hong Kong, 23 May 2022
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"Summary of Significant Contracts on Hand
EXFHEEHABE

The following table summarises our significant contracts on hand
for the Civil Engineering and Construction Business as at 31

December 2021:

Particulars of the contract

Contract sum

FREEEMR —FF A=+ —H
AR LA TREREERFNERTFHGH

BRFHE =f k-]
HK$ million
HE T
Roads and drainage works ERERERIE
Provision of external cable construction works BT INE B TR LA —
and outside telecommunications plant PR s (Note 1)
maintenance services (Ff3E1)
Provision of Barrier-free Access Facilities for T I SR L L e 2 i — 173
Highway Structures — Phase 3 Contract 9 =W IBEE (Note 2)
(Ft5E2)
Sewerage Works along Tung Yuen Street Proposed Residential i 3 ik 3t Bt 55 4 5 5% 5 [ fh e 1 2 % 4
Development at Yau Tong Inland JTEH V5 7K i B
Lot No. 45
Upgrading/Improvement Works to Lands Department Slopes in b [ it BU# & R TH4), oo TR 158
the Northern Regions
Utilities civil engineering works PHAREEIATIE
Term contract for provision of civil engineering $ ik 2 48 A B B R —
works for the telecommunication networks TATRZMEH (Note 1)
and associated facilities (Ff3E1)
Provision of integrated field works for field JRHEAKLA, KLB & NTCRI 4 &40 4% —
services in KLA, KLB & NTC region R (Note 1)
(F5E1)
Construction and Maintenance of Trenching/ s~ B - R B AT MTRES 1 S
Cable Laying and Contractual Works in the WYL BN G MR K (Note 1)
Areas of Hong Kong, Ap Lei Chau, Lamma BRI (FRF&ET)
Island and any Outlying Island
Civil and Building Works for North Point 132-kV 6132 T PR S A ¢ B R K 33

GIS Improvement (Phase 3-Stage 1)

ERUE TR CR3M 1R

Annual Report 2021 &~ —F4FE )
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Summary
EXFHEAIHE

Particulars of the contract

~

of Significant Contracts on Hand

*

Contract sum

BHFEE BHEE
HK$ million
T
Provision of Works for Integrated PRALER G Bl A A A 1 TR IR —
Blockwiring Infrastructure (Note 1)
(FEEET)
Refurbishment of The Boundary Fencing of R E R R LA (D) 10
Lamma Power Station (Phase II)
Building construction and maintenance works EFEENRETR
District Term Contract for Maintenance, JUREPE [ % P E @ —
Improvement and Vacant Flat Refurbishment TR - ol Moz B A (Note 1)
for Kowloon West, Sai Kung (1) 2020/2022 TR EEEL(1) (FF&E1)
e St Y St
Advance Civil Engineering Works for Public - \ERZE-NEFMAER 27
Housing Development Projects Batch 9 JE 8 JRIE H AT R TR
(2018-2019)
Construction of superstructure works at LR BRI S5 4 B R A TR T 92
sections 4 of Tseung Kwan O Depot Phase |I
Construction of Activity Green and Associated Works at LOHAS BELEE H Hi FF 35 B) 4k th S AR B 172 129

Park
Note 1: No contract sum provided in the contracts due to the nature  Bi5E1 :
of the relevant contracts.
Note 2: Project with a contract sum of HK$340 million being undertaken

by EXCEL-LANON Joint Venture, an unincorporated company
in which 51% interest is attributable to the Group.

BUEGHIGHE -

SRS AR > A B 2

BaE2 - & #1 4% 5 340,000,000 5T 2 TE H
R Af I L B A FA £ — oS4

HRE  H51 %M R AE A
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

As carbon neutrality attracted wide attention around the world and
the Chinese government launched vigorous policies to promote it,
the Group has actively implemented strategic planning for the
expansion in the field of carbon neutral since early 2021. While civil
engineering and construction business of the Group maintained
steady growth, the Group drove business transformation and
upgrading and made relentless efforts to develop global carbon
neutral business, aiming to create new business growth drivers,
enhance its financial performance and maximize shareholders’
interests. With a focus on two carbon neutral business of Carbon
credit asset development, operation and management, investment,
carbon consulting and carbon verification and industrial carbon
negative and natural carbon negative, the Group expands its
layout for emerging carbon neutral business, achieving material
and satisfactory progress in the development of emerging carbon
neutral business.

For the Year, the Group was principally engaged in two business
segments: (i) civil engineering works, building construction and
maintenance works (the “Civil Engineering and Construction
Business”); (ii) global carbon neutral business with a focus on
trading of carbon-credit assets, carbon credit and carbon asset
development, management and investment in carbon neutral
related fields and carbon verification as well as with a core of
industrial carbon negative and natural carbon negative (“Global
Carbon Neutral Business”).

The Group's automotive engines business (“Automotive Engines
Business”) had recorded segment loss since 2018 and its business
and financial performance had failed to improve. As a result, the
Group completed the disposal of Automotive Engines Business in
January 2021. Following the disposal, the Group ceased to engage
in the Automotive Engines Business.

Due to the relentless efforts to develop Global Carbon Neutral
Business, the Group recorded a segment profit of approximately
HK$149.0 million for the Year of this business. As a result,
the Group recorded a strong turnaround in operating profit
for the Year of approximately HK$41.7 million (2020: loss of
approximately HK$286.1 million). The profit attributable to owners
of the Company for the Year was approximately HK$267.7 million
(2020: approximately HK$302.0 million).

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWR DT

SR ol R e B R B R
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AR AT BB TR > K8 R A pkik
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8 e 45 T ks v A B A% A A AL A DL T
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H MR SE S B SR A B R B R A

AR FE AR I B R ()
AR TFRIEH DT @M AE TR (LK
ITRREBEERD : (\UREMNEERLS -
WAE & BB - A I ARG KWk E
FIBRAZ A B 4O F DL T 36 B RRAN [ SR B
0 1 2 BRI PR RS (R BRER P ) -

A AR [ 2 IR SR S (R B
B B F /BRSO S e 1R B
EGMABRBEAAUE - AEHCR -F
S A SRR BB B R -
AR ER > AEBCAFEFERH K
ES

H A AR 5 K ) 8% e 2 ki PR 26T - UL
5 A A FE %45 43 #5211 49 149,000,000 #5
TG o ACEE [H 2 KR S AR TR s 2 N kA5
KU A 441,700,000 00 (CF A
ki1 41286,100,000 70) © B EAFRE - A
oy rl A A AL I A 49267,700,000 78 (—
T FAE T #9302,000,000%50) o
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRER DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)
During the Year,

(i)  due the expansion of carbon neutral business, a fair value
gain on carbon credit assets of approximately HK$172.0
million was recorded; the revenue from sales of carbon-
credit assets, provision of carbon neutral advisory and carbon
planning services was approximately HK$0.5 million; and
the segment profits of Global Carbon Neutral Business was
approximately HK$149.0 million;

(i) the Group’s Civil Engineering and Construction Business
maintained steady growth with revenue of approximately
HK$467.6 million (2020: approximately HK$475.3 million)
and the segment profit was approximately HK$7.2 million
(2020: approximately HK$2.6 million); and

(i) a gain of approximately HK$269.2 million was recorded from
the disposal of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary,
representing the whole Automotive Engines Business of the
Group.

The Group’s capital structure significantly improved during the
Year because:

(i) the Group commenced new business — carbon neutral
business and hence obtained new business growth driver
which generates good financial returns;

(i) based on the market recognition of carbon neutral business
transformation, the Group seized the business opportunities
and completed two fund-raising activities in the capital
market. The Company issued and allotted a total of
82,000,000 shares of the Company and raised approximately
HK$421.1 million. The Group's capital and equity thus
substantially increased;

(iii) The Group proactively improved its finance management by
decreasing its liabilities, and in the process of the lowering
the Company’s debts, the interest payable on promissory
notes of approximately HK$99.3 million has been waived;
and

(iv) the Group ceased the Automotive Engines Business which
had posted loss for three consecutive years.

EROERUBEE @&
AR :

() AEETEETMEY > BEHEE
2N o fE {H U 4 8% 153 49 172,000,000 #s
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRR DM

oL et ]

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business

The Group commenced Global Carbon Neutral Business in early
2021. It established a unique market position for the carbon
neutral related operations with a primary focus on carbon credit
asset development, operation and management, investment,
carbon consulting and carbon neutral planning. Through actively
deploying negative carbon emissions as basic industry, the Group
achieved a unique carbon-neutral collaborative development
approach that combines new asset development and management
with industry and created a sustainable and high-return business
model.

Due to the relentless efforts to develop Global Carbon Neutral
Business, the Group recorded a segment profit of approximately
HK$149.0 million for the Year of this business. As a result, the
Group recorded a strong turnaround in operating profit for the
Year of approximately HK$41.7 million (2020: loss of approximately
HK$286.1 million).

In alignment with the development of carbon neutral business, the
Group carried out strategy evaluation and formed a professional
team to enhance and optimize the organizational structure and
management team and establish a new organizational structure
and management style adapted to its new business. Its business
organizational structure is as follows:

Carbon Asset Development, Operation and Management
Segment
° Carbon Asset Management Division

o Carbon Information Technology Division

Carbon Negative Business Segment
o Industry Carbon Negative Division

° Nature Carbon Negative Division

EXCENMBEE B

2 IRER P AT

AEE QK )RR A BRIk PR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business (Continued)

The Group attaches great importance to talents recruitment in order
to fully meet the needs for its transformation and upgrading and
the implementation of its niche strategy. Its carbon neutral business
management team possesses extensive management experiences
and a wealth of professional knowledge and practical know-
how in financial, asset management, corporate management and
investment fields. All of the carbon neutral business practitioners
are experts with extensive hands-on experiences in carbon
neutral sector. They include world-renowned experts on climate
change, carbon emission inspector for national environmental
protection and national authority on environmental planning.
This professional team helps the Company to master the accurate
information on carbon market and grasp the development trend
in the field of carbon neutrality. It provides comprehensive support
to the Company for its expansion of carbon neutral business.

By upgrading the governance and execution system of carbon
neutral business and appointing the seasoned management
team, the Group built a clearer strategic roadmap for different
segments of its carbon neutral business and developed a more
agile organization. It can thus effectively deploy and expand
carbon neutral related business and create long-term values to
shareholders of the Company.

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Asset
Development, Operation and Management

As for carbon asset operation and management business, this
segment focuses on carbon asset development, operation and
management originated from the provision of carbon consulting,
auditing and development services. A leading business model which
integrates carbon asset development, operation and management
is thus created. As the core asset under management, the carbon
asset operation and management business will be extended to
other areas, including but not limited to carbon trading, carbon
options and futures, carbon index, repurchase of carbon mortgage
and carbon custody. During the Year, the Group made relentless
efforts to expand carbon asset development, operation and
management business, including:
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Asset

Development, Operation and Management (Continued)

Implementation of Carbon Asset Development Projects

—  The Group entered into a strategic cooperation agreement
with Sinochem Environmental Holdings Co., Ltd. (“Sinochem
Environmental”) and jointly commenced specific projects
of carbon asset development. The Company will fully utilize
its resources advantages in China’s ecological environment,
forestry, grassland and carbon emissions reduction
technologies to provide Sinochem Environmental with
professional carbon consulting and carbon asset management
services and cooperate with Sinochem Environmental to
develop a carbon asset development and management model
recognized by the global carbon financial market, providing
Sinochem Environmental with carbon asset development
services.

—  The Group entered into a strategic cooperation agreement
with Beijing Jinmao Green Building Technology Co., Ltd.
("Beijing Jinmao”). The Group and Beijing Jinmao will
jointly conduct research on low-carbon cities and green
construction complex and formulate integrated solutions
on carbon neutrality. The Group can fully utilize Beijing
Jinmao’s R&D strengths in construction technology and smart
energy and its industry layouts to promote the R&D and
applications of carbon reduction technologies. A win-win
business cooperation model will thus be created for multiple
parties. In addition, by fully utilizing resources advantages
in China's ecological environment, forestry, grassland and
carbon emissions reduction technologies, the Company will
cooperate with Beijing Jinmao to jointly conduct research on
the development of standardized systems for carbon assets
management which is recognized by the global carbon
financial market. Both parties will establish a promotion
platform for carbon emissions reduction technology
applications and start cooperation on a pilot carbon emission
trading platform.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRER DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW XKEER B EERE (&)

(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Asset 2HBHDMEK -—-RESERARMKLE
Development, Operation and Management (Continued) & (&)
Implementation of Carbon Asset Development Projects ZEEHZEHZIER (B)

(Continued)

—  The Group entered into strategic cooperation agreements -
with various strategic partners for specific emission reduction
projects of development of carbon assets, including China
Everbright Group Ltd., Canvest Environmental Protection
Group Company Limited, both companies listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and
CECEP (Hong Kong) Investment Co., Ltd., a state-owned
enterprise.

- During the Year, the Group successfully developed and -
acquired considerable Voluntary Emission Reduction
("VER"). The VER complies with the Gold Standard (“GS") or
the Verified Carbon Standard (“VCS”) and is a high-quality
carbon credit asset with global liquidity and wide acceptance.
It covers the Certified Emission Reduction (“CER") generated
from various projects such as biomass power generation,
photovoltaic power generation, landfill gas collection and
power generation and low-concentration coal mine methane
power generation. Besides, the Group successfully developed
or acquired CER futures to be issued for a 12-year term
starting from 2021, making it one of the largest holders of
carbon credit assets in the Asia-Pacific region.

14 China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited [ T - 1 45 i £E [3] 45 BR A 7]
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Asset
Development, Operation and Management (Continued)

Actively expansion and commercialization of Informatization

Technology

The Group and Shenzhen Infogem Technologies Co., Ltd.*,
a company listed on the ChiNext Market of the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 300085), formed a joint venture
known as China Carbon Infogem Technologies Development
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (“China Carbon Infogem”) in China.
China Carbon Infogem is principally engaged in carbon
information technology, the provision of scientific and
technological innovation and technical services for carbon
management and carbon finance. It provides financial
institutions, enterprises and governments with integrated
digital carbon neutral solutions and helps them to set up
informatization infrastructures.

China’s economic structure and industrial structure have
broaden rooms and opportunities of transformation and
development under the background of the national “dual
carbon” strategies. Financial institutions will also play an
important part during the course of achieving the target
of “dual carbon”, and advance the deployment of financial
resources under the standards of carbon neutralization on basis
of achieving their own carbon neutralization. Digitalization
and informatization are the core basis of achieving carbon
neutralization and advance the deployment resources, and
the carbon consulting business of the Group will combine
the leading advantages of Infogem in digital field, provide
comprehensive digital carbon neutralization solutions and set
up informatization infrastructures for financial institutions
and relevant enterprises and organizations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRER DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Asset

Development, Operation and Management (Continued)

Expansion of Carbon Consulting Business

—  The Group, Nanjing Jiangdao Environmental Technology
Research Institute Co., Ltd.* and Nanjing Chuangtan
Environmental Protection Technology Partnership (Limited
Partnership)* formed a joint venture known as China
Carbon Green (Nanjing) Technology Development Co., Ltd.*
("China Carbon Nanjing”) . China Carbon Nanjing is mainly
engaged in environmental protection and carbon consulting
business, focusing on carbon asset development consulting,
carbon peaking carbon planning consulting, carbon audit
and carbon verification, providing comprehensive consulting
services such as timetables, roadmaps, construction drawings,
planning schemes, etc. to achieve carbon neutrality for
enterprises, governments and institutions participating in
emission control and voluntary emission reduction. It also
provides a series of environmental consulting services such as
environmental impact assessment, environmental planning,
and environmental stewardship.

—  The Group won the bid for a carbon neutral project in the
state-level pilot free trade zone. It will provide the “assessment
and consulting services for the action plan of developing the
green pilot free trade zone” in the China (Heilongjiang) Pilot
Free Trade Zone (“Heilongjiang Pilot FTZ"”). The winning
of this contract strengthens the Group’s strategic position
as "one-stop” carbon neutral solutions provider, enabling
it to gain access to over 40,000 enterprises located in 20
high-tech parks of Heilongjiang Pilot FTZ and provide them
with carbon neutral services. The application scenarios of
the Group’s carbon consulting, carbon planning and carbon
neutral informatized products will be substantially expanded,
and the scope of its carbon asset development and operation
business will be augmented.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Asset
Development, Operation and Management (Continued)
Enhancement of Infrastructure Development

While vigorously expanding carbon asset development, operation
and management business, the Group completed the establishment
of carbon asset-centric, multi-level infrastructures both in China
and abroad during the Year. They become an integral part of
implementation of global carbon asset development, trading and
management:

—  The Group officially registered as comprehensive user of the
GS, headquartered in Switzerland) and VERRA (headquartered
in the United States). In addition, the Group’'s domestic
wholly-owned subsidiary opened the National Voluntary
Emission Reductions and Emission Trading Account. It also
opened carbon trading accounts with Shenzhen Emissions
Exchange, China Beijing Environment Exchange and the
Shanghai Environment and Energy Exchange, respectively.

—  The Group officially launched a ToC integrated trading
platform and the online PC version “Climate Store”, which
help promote the wider use of different “Climate Products”
such as “zero carbon citizens”, “zero carbon schools”
and “zero carbon communities”, facilitating individuals,
institutions and social groups to offset their own carbon
emissions through carbon credits, hence driving the rapid
development of the Group’s knowledge-intensive carbon
asset development and operation business. In order to
capture the tremendous opportunities brought by digital
“Climate Products”, the Group launched ToG (government
application), ToC (consumer application) and ToB (business
application) platforms to satisfy the market demand, which
not only delivered satisfactory commercial return to the
Group, but also contributed to the fight against climate
change.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Asset
Development, Operation and Management (Continued)
Enhancement of Infrastructure Development (Continued)
Besides, the Group actively drove natural expansion of carbon asset
development and operation business in the Year. Preparations were
made for the establishment of a carbon asset investment fund —
Global Carbon Asset Investment Management Fund, L.P., so as to
reinforce the Group’s leadership in carbon asset operation. This
initiative enables the Group to develop cross-border advantages
and expand the ways and channels to tap into the global carbon
market, thereby attracting more funds to the carbon asset market
that suits its needs. The Group’s financial performance will thus
be enhanced.

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Negative
Business

As for carbon negative business, the Group’s industry carbon
negative business segment focuses on the development and application
of negative carbon technology, including CCUS technology. The
nature carbon negative business segment redefines forestry and
agriculture and carries out carbon sink consulting and trading
through investment in afforestation and cooperative development
of forest carbon sink, resulting in sustainable green investment in
the long run. With a mission to cut China’s CO2 emissions by 2%,
the Group hopes that it can achieve negative carbon emissions
of 100 million metric tons each from the nature-based solutions
and the technology-based solutions. The forests created from the
investment in afforestation will absorb 100 million metric tons of
CO2. Meanwhile, the development of CCUS project will reduce
100 million metric tons of CO2 emissions. Through these efforts,
the Group can thus fulfill its corporate social responsibilities in a
sustainable manner.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Civil Engineering and Construction Business

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Civil Engineering and
Construction Business managed to record a stable performance,
despite of the grave challenges from the COVID-19 outbreak and
the economic downslope in Hong Kong.

In the course of project contracting, the Group also attached great
importance to the protection of famous and ancient trees and
biodiversity, and was committed to protecting the environment
and promoting sustainable development while building social
development. Besides, we focused on the principle of sustainable
construction and had a good record in the implementation of
green building projects. Our environmental management system
has obtained ISO 14001 certification. Under its strict framework,
we took a systematic approach to manage our resource utilization
efficiency and emission control to advance continuous upgrading.
Particularly, we attached great importance to the assessment of
our environmental data (such as energy and material utilisation,
carbon emissions, water consumption and waste generation), and
took various effective measures to continuously reduce carbon
emissions.

As a main contractor of the contracts awarded to the Group, the
Civil Engineering and Construction Business offers high value-
added services that encompass works from the procurement of
materials and equipment, selection of sub-contractors to on-site
supervision, work progress monitoring and overall co-ordination
of the day-to-day work of projects. All of the Civil Engineering
and Construction Business’ contracts undertaken for both civil
and building construction business were for customers which are
independent third parties including certain departments of the
Government of Hong Kong, public utilities companies and private
organizations in Hong Kong.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Civil Engineering and Construction Business (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021,
from the Civil Engineering and Construction Business was
approximately HK$467.6 million (2020: approximately HK$475.3
million), represented approximately 99.9% of the total revenue
of the Group (2020: approximately 99.4%). For the year ended
31 December 2021, the gross profit of the Civil Engineering and
Construction Business was approximately HK$36 million (2020:
gross profit of approximately HK$15 million), the gross profit
margin increased to 7.6% (2020: 3.1%) due a project incurred
gross loss in 2020, which has been completed in 2021.

revenue generated

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had 14 significant projects
in progress. Four of them were building construction and
maintenance projects while the remaining were civil engineering
construction projects.

As of 31 December 2021, the total contract sum and the
total outstanding values of the Group’s substantial projects in
progress were approximately HK$626 million and HK$343 million
respectively (31 December 2020: approximately HK$536.6 million
and HK$197.4 million respectively).

Despite the tough operating environment in Hong Kong, the Civil
Engineering and Construction Business maintained its competitive
advantages, which are to provide high-quality services of a wide
scope and to maintain a cordial client relationship, and the
progress in obtaining new contracts managed to record a stable
performance for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Group has been awarded 6 new substantial contracts for the
year ended 31 December 2021:

- Construction of Activity Green and Associated Works at
LOHAS Park

- Upgrading/improvement Works to Lands Department Slopes
in the Northern Regions

- Refurbishment of The Boundary Fencing of Lamma Power
Station (Phase 1I)
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

(Continued)

Civil Engineering and Construction Business (Continued)

- Sewerage Works along Tung Yuen Street Proposed Residential
Development at Yau Tong Inland Lot No.45

—  Construction and Maintenance of Trenching/Cable Laying
and Contractual Works in the Areas of Hong Kong, Ap Lei
Chau, Lamma Island and Any Outlying Island

—  Provision of Works for integrated Blockwiring infrastructure

PROSPECTS

For the Global Carbon Neutral Business, the Group will continue
to develop carbon asset projects for business partners in 2022. In
addition, the Group has carried out the first CCUS project for its
client.

Carbon asset is a kind of equity asset with global interconnection.
The Paris Agreement provides an international framework for
countries to set clear goals to reach a net-zero carbon world. The
Under 2 Coalition of 205 jurisdictions — representing 43 countries
and six continents — is developing deep decarbonisation plans for
2050. As a major country to actively tackle climate change, China
announced that it would aim to achieve peak CO2 emissions before
2030 and carbon neutrality before 2060. In addition, a number of
well-known enterprises in the world also announced their carbon
neutrality plans and timetables. This creates diversified demand for
the carbon assets. As a company listed on the The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Group makes
use of its competitive advantage of internationalization to explore
various potential business opportunities since carbon assets not
only have the Chinese mainland market but also have global and
regional markets, setting a very favourable macro environment
for the Company’s medium and long-term development and
Company is confident and optimistic about the long-term value
of the Group.

- & R

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

PROSPECTS (Continued)

As a company focusing on the development of the carbon neutral
business, the Company aims to promote carbon neutral business
and eco-friendly awareness to the whole society all walks of life
as well as to promote the implementation of carbon neutrality
and contribute to the global response to climate change. The
Group has been making effective use of resources and investing in
projects and enterprises that truly reduce emissions and respond
well to climate change.

For the Civil Engineering and Construction Business, although
the operating environment in Hong Kong is expected to remain
tough in the coming years such as continuously rising wages
and cost of construction materials and shortage of skilled labors,
the Company is confident that the Group would be capable of
securing promising business opportunities given its vast experience
in handling a wide variety of construction works.
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UNL '

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY
AND GEARING

During the Year, the Company completed the following fund-

raising activities:

(i)

(i)

on 9 April 2021 and 26 May 2021, the Company has issued
new ordinary shares pursuant to the subscription agreements
dated 7 March 2021 and an aggregate 40,000,000
subscription shares have been issued. The net proceeds
from the subscriptions were approximately HK$192 million.
Further details of the subscriptions are set out in the section
headed “Subscription of new shares” below; and

on 3 August 2021, the Company has issued and placed an
aggregate 42,000,000 ordinary shares pursuant to the placing
agreement dated 26 July 2021 and net proceeds from the
placing were approximately HK$229.1 million. Further details
of the placing are set out in the section headed “Placing of

new shares” below.

As at 31 December 2021, the current liabilities and non-current
liabilities of the Group significantly decreased by 63.9% and
50.4% respectively as compared to that at 31 December 2020.
As a result, the Group recorded net current assets and net assets

at 31 December 2021,

as compared to that the Group recorded

net current liabilities and net liabilities at 31 December 2020. The
debts level of the Group significantly improved during the Year
due to:

(i)

on 29 January 2021, the Group completed the disposal of
Well Surplus Enterprises Limited (“Well Surplus”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, which was engaged in
the Automotive Engines Business. As at 31 December 2020,
the Automotive Engines Business reported a net current
The disposal of which has
significantly improved the financial position of the Group.
Further details of the disposal are set out in the note 34 in

liabilities and net liabilities.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and the sub-
section headed "Disposal of a subsidiary” below;

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRER DM

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY

AND GEARING (Continued)

(i) on 26 March 2021, the bondholder of the convertible bonds
of the Company has completed a partial conversion of the
convertible bonds to the extent of HK$40.0 million, and
20,000,000 conversion shares has been issued and allotted.
Further details of the partial conversion are set out in the
section headed “Partial conversion of the convertible bonds”
below;

(iii) in the first half of 2021, the Group early settled the interest
of the promissory notes of the Company with aggregate
amount of HK$50.5 million, representing the interest
repayment in aggregate amount of HK$82.0 million; and

(iv) in the second half of 2021, the Group settled the promissory
notes at HK$210.0 million with face value of HK$235.75
million and the interest payable of HK$65.6 million has been
waived.

The Group's financial position was significantly improved due to
the above corporate actions.

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the amount of net cash and
bank balances (interest-bearing borrowings, liabilities component
of the convertible bonds and promissory notes less cash and cash
equivalent) divided by the total equity. The gearing ratios as at
31 December 2021 was 173% (2020: not available because the
Group reported a negative equity attributable to owners of the
Company as at 31 December 2020).
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND PROMISSORY NOTES
On 4 February 2016, the Company issued (i) zero coupon convertible
bonds with an aggregate principal amount of HK$390 million;
and (ii) promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$410 million to Power Expert Global Limited (“Power Expert”)
as consideration for the acquisition of 100% equity interest in
Well Surplus and its subsidiaries pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement dated 12 October 2015.

On 31 December 2017, the Company executed and completed the
extension of the maturity date of the promissory notes for 2 years
from 4 February 2018 to 4 February 2020 and the interest rate of
the promissory notes shall be adjusted downward from 10% to
8% per annum for the extension period from 5 February 2018 to
4 February 2020 and all accrued and outstanding interest under
the promissory notes shall be repaid on the extended maturity
date of February 2020.

On 28 March 2018, the Company executed and completed, among
others, the extension of the maturity date of the convertible bonds
for 2 years from 4 February 2018 to 4 February 2020.

On 8 November 2019, the Company and Power Expert entered
into an amendment agreement, pursuant to which (i) the maturity
date of the convertible bonds shall be extended for 5 years to 4
February 2025; and (ii) the term of the promissory notes will be
changed to perpetual and the interest rate will be fixed at 5% per
annum with effect from 5 February 2020, payable annually and
the interest accrued on or before 4 February 2020 shall be payable
on 4 February 2025. Further details of the amendment are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 8 November 2019 and
the Company’s circular dated 19 December 2019. This proposed
amendment took effect on 14 January 2020.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND PROMISSORY NOTES
(Continued)

On 3 February 2020, the Company received (i) a duly-executed
transfer notice from Power Expert notifying the Company that
Power Expert has agreed to transfer the convertible bonds to LE
Group Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“LEGH"); and (ii) an assignment notice
from Power Expert notifying the Company that Power Expert has
agreed to assign the promissory notes to LEGH. The Company has
given its consent on the transfer and issued new certificates of the
convertible bonds and the promissory notes to LEGH.

On 7 October 2020, the Company received a transfer notice from
LEGH notifying the Company that LEGH has agreed to transfer the
entire convertible bonds back to Power Expert. The Company has
given its consent on the transfer and issued new certificates of the
convertible bonds to Power Expert.

On 12 October 2020, the Company received an assignment notice
from LEGH notifying the Company that LEGH has agreed to assign
the entire promissory notes back to Power Expert. The Company
has given its consent on the transfer and issued new certificates
of the promissory notes to Power Expert.

On 29 January 2021, the Group completed the disposal of Well
Surplus and the total consideration for the disposal was HK$41.5
million, which was settled by the purchaser by way of (a) HK$0.5
million in cash and (b) the balance of HK$41 million by way of
waiver of the interests in the amount of HK$41 million payable
by the Company to Power Expert for the period from 5 February
2020 to 4 February 2022. Further details of the disposal are set
out in the sub-section headed “Disposal of a subsidiary” below.

On 23 September 2021, the Company received a transfer notice
from Power Expert notifying the Company that Power Expert has
agreed to transfer the entire convertible bonds to Quick Tycoon
Limited (“Quick Tycoon"”). The Company has given its consent on
the transfer and issued new certificates of the convertible bonds
to Quick Tycoon.

On 18 October 2021, the Company received an assignment notice
from Quick Tycoon notifying the Company that Quick Tycoon has
agreed to transfer the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$2 million and HK$3 million to two different independent party
respectively. The Company has given its consent on the transfer
and issued new certificates of the convertible bonds accordingly.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND PROMISSORY NOTES
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the outstanding principal amount of
the convertible bonds was HK$350 million. The maximum number
of shares of the Company that will be issued upon conversion of
all the outstanding convertible bonds was 175,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company.

PARTIAL CONVERSION OF THE CONVERTIBLE
BONDS

On 19 March 2021, Power Expert issued a conversion notice to
the Company in respect of the exercise of the conversion rights
attached to the convertible bonds to the extent of HK$40,000,000
and accordingly requested the Company to issue 20,000,000
new shares. As all conditions for the conversion which were
stipulated in the terms of the convertible bonds were fulfilled, the
Company gave its consent on the conversion, and agreed to issue
20,000,000 conversion shares to Power Expert.

On 26 March 2021, the partial conversion of the convertible bonds
has completed, and 20,000,000 conversion shares has been issued
and allotted to Power Expert.

SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES

On 7 March 2021, the Company (as issuer) entered into two
subscription agreements with two subscribers, namely Mao Yuan
Capital Limited (“Mao Yuan Capital”) and Mr. Zhang Yaxun,
in respect of the subscriptions of an aggregate of 40,000,000
ordinary shares (each a “Subscription Share”) at the subscription
price. of HK$4.80 per share (the “Subscriptions”) since the
Company would like to expand its global carbon neutral business
which requires the Company to increase its find size and improve
the profit-making abilities and developing abilities of the Group.

On 9 April 2021, 16,240,000 Subscription Shares have been
issued and allotted to Z&F International Trading Limited (“Z&F"),
a company controlled by Mr. Zhang Yaxun.

On 26 May 2021, 23,760,000 Subscription Shares have been
issued and allotted to Mao Yuan Capital.

The net proceeds from the Subscriptions (after deducting
all applicable costs and expenses of the Subscriptions) was
approximately HK$192 million. As at 31 December 2021, the
Company has fully applied the net proceeds in accordance with
the intended use as stated in the announcement of the Company
dated 8 March 2021.

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWR DT

RRESRELZRE (&)

BE_FZ-—#+_HA=+—H Wk
18 5 F K A 98 A8 4 £5350,000,000% ¢ > A
HR 4% AT o A i 5 s 460 177 95 47 %) A B L BR 4
175,000,000/ A% > 7] H- 48 . o

BoEBRABRRES

WoZEZ—F=ZATIUR > TR AT
40,000,000%5 7T 7] 46 I 15 75 i FA 1) 488 J5e A 1)
AR E B EIOE A > (R BOR AR R B4 T
20,000,000 BT B 13 = FR 7A BT 46 i if 25 M
O BTET B R ) T A R T AR A
7N A B R R 3l ) 1 15 AR B BR S AT
20,000,000 B # B A7 ©

RoFT—AEZH T NE S WA GR
B R C e - H B 15 BB AT M i 8%
20,000,000/ BcH BEBEA

REH R0
MRoFE-—EZALH > RAARTEERE
BRI RES > TEBAESHL » 127
AW B ARE S R S - AT (R
FEEATN) B2 5 N (RURRE VR & AR A PRA
A (REAR]) MaREEEA) 5T e
Wk > NS A B SR S 1 e (7 4. 807
JCRRIE A 4£40,000,000 % 3% 48 B LAY (B A%
RERG) (RBEE]) -

AT E T —4EPUH SLH 5 [A1Z&F International
Trading Limited ([Z&F ) (%554 5o A 72 il (1)
INT)) BEAT R EE16,240,000 % G2 AD o

B4R A AN H s AR AR
17 KBt #%23,760,000 i sB A7y ©

R TP A5 R A (RS R R S TE
A 78 B S B S 4%) #7192,000,0003 G -
NoE T AEF A= —H s ARFEIEE
ARNFI T FE = A NH 2 A B
ZH5EE R E ] AR T S R IR AR -

Annual Report 2021 =&~ —F4FEH 27



Management Discussion and Analysis
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES

On 26 July 2021, the Company (as issuer) entered into a placing
agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with Guotai Junan
Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (as the placing agent) (“Placing
Agent”) since the Company would like to expand its global carbon
neutral business which requires the Company to increase its
fund size and improve the profit-making abilities and developing
abilities of the Group. Pursuant to the Placing Agreement, the
Company has conditionally agreed to place through the Placing
Agent, on a best effort basis, up to 42,000,000 ordinary shares
(the “Placing Shares”) to not less than six placees at the placing
price of HK$5.50 per Placing Share (the “Placing”).

On 3 August 2021, an aggregate of 42,000,000 Placing Shares
have been allotted and issued and successfully placed to not
less than six placees through the Placing Agent at the placing
price in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Placing
Agreement. All of the placees and their ultimate beneficial
owners (if applicable) are independent third parties who were not
connected persons of the Company within the meaning of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”), and not acting in concert (as defined under the
Takeovers Code) with any of them, and none of the placees had
become a substantial shareholder of the Company immediately
upon completion of the Placing.

The net proceeds from the Placing (after deducting the commission
payable to the Placing Agent, professional fees and other related
costs and expenses incurred in the Placing) was approximately
HK$229.1 million. As at 31 December 2021, the Company has
fully applied the net proceeds in accordance with the intended
use as stated in the announcement of the Company dated 26
July 2021.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
Disposal of a subsidiary

On 29 January 2021, Future Marvel Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, completed a disposal of the entire
issued shares in Well Surplus and the shareholder loans owned
by the disposal group (Well Surplus and its subsidiaries) (the
“Disposal”). Upon completion, Well Surplus and its subsidiaries
ceased to be subsidiaries of the Group. Details of the Disposal
are set out in note 34 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
(Continued)

Acquisitions of listed securities

On 10 June 2021, the Company completed the subscription of
an aggregate of 200,000,000 shares of China Ecotourism Group
Limited (“China Ecotourism Group”), a company which shares
are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, through the
placing of the untaken shares under the rights issue of the China
Ecotourism Group at an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$20 million (excluding stamp duty and related expenses). The
aggregate consideration of the acquisition was fully payable in
cash by the Group’s internal financial resources.

The principal activities of China Ecotourism Group are (i) provision
of technology and operation services for lottery systems, terminal
equipment and gaming products and sales of lottery terminals
and related equipment; (ii) research and development, processing,
production and sales of natural and health food; and (iii) project
development and operation of ecotourism.

China Ecotourism Group actively promoted ecotourism related
business and has lots of potential natural resources, which providing
the Group good business opportunities to develop forest carbon
sinks and expand in the field of the natural carbon negative. The
investments in China Ecotourism Group will facilitate strategic co-
operation between the Group and China Ecotourism Group and
will be beneficial to the Group’s development in carbon neutral
business.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held 200,000,000 shares of
China Ecotourism Group, representing approximately 6.48% of
the shareholdings of China Ecotourism Group, and the fair value
of which was HK$20.0 million, representing approximately 4.1%
of the Group’s total assets.

Save as disclosed, the Group did not have any material acquisition
or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint venture for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Group did
not have any significant investment or capital assets.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any pledge of

assets (as at 31 December 2020: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Detail of the Group’s contingent liabilities are set out in note 38
in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Most of the Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in HK$
and RMB, which are the functional currencies of the Group. Any
fluctuation in the exchange rate of HK$ against RMB may have
an impact on the Group's results. The Group has not entered into
any instruments to reduce the impact of the foreign exchange
exposure. The Group will closely monitor exchange rate movement
and will take appropriate activities to reduce the exchange risk.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had approximately 332
employees (as at 31 December 2020: 334) in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. During the Year, the total employee benefit of
the Group were approximately HK$106.9 million. The Group’s
remuneration policy is reviewed periodically and determined by
reference to market terms, company performance, and individual
qualifications and performance. Other staff benefits include
bonuses awarded on a discretionary basis, mandatory provident
fund scheme for Hong Kong employees, state-sponsored retirement
plans for the employees in Mainland China. Share options would
be granted to respective employees with outstanding performance
and contributions to the Group.

The Group provides or subsidies various training programmes and
courses to its employees according to business needs, to ensure
that its employees are kept updated with relevant laws and
regulations, such as the Listing Rules, accounting standards, risk
management knowledge, labour regulations and the employee’s
code of conduct.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group does not have any
future plans for other material investments or capital assets in the
coming year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 3 January 2022, the Company allotted and issued 3,500,000
shares upon the exercise of the conversion rights attached
to the convertible bonds of the Company to the aggregate
principal amount of HK$7 million by three individuals, who
were independent third party to the Company and its connected
persons having the meaning under the Listing Rules.

On 4 January 2022, the principal share registrar and transfer office
of the Company changed from Conyers Trust Company (Cayman)
Limited to Ogier Global (Cayman) Limited located at 89 Nexus
Way, Camana Bay, Grand Cayman, KY1-9009, Cayman Islands
and the registered office of the Company changed from Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands to the address of Ogier Global (Cayman) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no other significant events happened
after the reporting period and up to the date of this report.

*  For identification only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Managemen:L
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DIRECTORS

Executive directors

Ms. Chan Tan Na, Donna (“Ms. Chan”), aged 41,
appointed as an executive Director since 18 November 2021.
Ms. Chan is also the Chairman of the Board, who is responsible
for leading the Group. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor’'s degree in
Economics and Finance from the University of Hong Kong and a
Master’s degree in Economics from Boston University, USA. She
is a qualified Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA). From 2005 to
early 2012, Ms. Chan held positions at Deutsche Bank’s Corporate
Finance department and Atlantis Investment Management (Hong
Kong) Limited. Ms. Chan is currently an executive director of a
Hong Kong listed company, China Ecotourism Group Limited. Ms.
Chan is the spouse of Mr. Sha Tao, a substantial shareholder of
the Company.

has been

Mr. Chen Xinwei (“"Mr. Chen”), aged 46, has been appointed
as an executive Director since 2 March 2021, Mr. Chen is
also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Chen is
responsible for leading the Group’s Carbon Neutral Business
and participates in the formulation of strategies of the Carbon
Neutral Business and mobilizes the resources of the Group to
ensure the implementation of related businesses. Mr. Chen holds
a bachelor’s degree in Economics from the Peking University and
a master's degree in Finance from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. Mr. Chen has more than 20 years of
experience in the global capital markets and has outstanding
expertise in the financial and asset management fields. Mr. Chen
served as the chairman of Sinocon Holdings International Limited,
engaging in cross-border financial services and cross-border
financial investment. He worked for many well-known financial
institutions such as Nomura, UBS and Merrill Lynch. Mr. Chen
in currently an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen
Infogem Technologies Co.,Ltd., a company whose shares are listed
on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300085). Mr. Chen is
the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company, namely China
Carbon Neutral Group Limited, Excel Development (Holdings)
Limited, Victorious Securities Limited and Global Carbon Asset
Investment Management, Ltd.
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Mr. Di Ling (“Mr. Di"), aged 58, has been appointed as an
Mr. Di is responsible
for developing and executing corporate strategies of the Carbon
Neutral Business and directly leads the strategic investments
Di is experienced in the risk
investment and corporate finance sectors. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree from the Department of Thermal Engineering of Tsinghua
University. Mr. Di served as the standing vice president of SBCVC*
between 2011 and 2019 and president of SB Green Investment
Fund Limited* since 2019. He has extensive experience in risk
management, project management, corporate restructuring and
debt restructuring. Mr. Di is the director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company, namely China Carbon Neutral Group Limited, China
Carbon Green (Nanjing) Technology Development Co., Limited*
and China Carbon Green Development (Shenzhen) Co., Limited*.
Mr. Di is currently an executive director of a Hong Kong listed
Company, China Ecotourism Group Limited.

-
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executive Director since 18 March 2021.

in Carbon Neutral Business. Mr.

Dr. Cui Dingjun (“Dr. Cui”), aged 56, has been appointed as an
executive Director since 18 March 2021. Dr. Cui is an expert in liquid
mechanics field. He obtained the doctoral degree in engineering
from the Beihang University majoring in jet aerospace power, and
subsequently obtained his second doctoral degree in the University
of Strathclyde majoring in fluid dynamics. Dr. Cui is a member of
the technical committee of the American Society for Testing and
Materials (ASTM), a Professional Engineer of Ontario (PEO) and a
member of the Ontario Society of Professional Engineers (OSPE).
Apart from the academic sector, Dr. Cui also possesses extensive
experience in the practical application of cutting-edge scientific
technology. Dr. Cui served as (i) the supervisor of laboratory of
Fantom Technologies Ltd between 1999 and 2001, responsible for
the design of new products and respective quality standards; (ii)
the principal designer of Armstrong Pump Ltd between 2001 and
2006, responsible for the development, design and production of
high-tech products; (iii) the managing director of Watson Process
Systems since 2006,
gas processing and environmental protection equipment; and
(iv) the executive director of Macro Eng. & Tech. Inc. since 2010,
responsible for the design and production of high-tech plastic
products. He has participated in various large projects of energy
conservation and emission reduction as well as international
carbon trading.

responsible for the design and supply of
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Mr. Chen Lei, aged 58, has been appointed as an executive
Director since 13 May 2021.
in the field of ecological construction in China. He graduated from
Beijing Normal University with a degree in Chinese language in
1986. After the 1990s, Mr. Chen Lei moved into the television
industry. And after the year of 2000, he left media industry and
entered ecological field, serving as the Director of the propaganda
department of Working Committee of Eco-China under the
State Forestry Administration, the Director of the propaganda
department, an executive vice president and deputy secretary-
general of Strategy and Development Research Institution
of China Eco Development Association. Currently, he is the
secretary-general of China Eco Development Association, and the
Chairman of the Tree-Planting & Wood-Fostering Committee of
the Company. Mr. Chen Lei was an executive director of a Hong
Kong listed company, Xinyang Maojian Group Limited, from 24
April 2019 to 3 May 2021.

Mr. Chen Lei is a well-known expert

Non-executive director

Mr. Lam Po Foon (“Mr. Lam”), aged 60, has been appointed
as an non-executive Director since 10 August 2021. Mr. Lam is
a bachelor of University of Salford, Manchester in the United
Kingdom, and started his career in a company under General
Electric in the United Kingdom. He has been involved in the financial
field since the late 1980s. He has worked in securities, commodity
futures and financial venture capital companies in Hong Kong, the
United Kingdom, Ireland, the United States and other places, and
has accumulated rich experience in financial investment and risk
management. Subsequently, Mr. Lam founded his independent
family office, focusing on his own wealth management and
inheritance planning, and the main areas involved include life
technology, clean energy, green finance and financial technology.
In 2017, while managing his independent family office, Mr. Lam
co-founded a Hong Kong-licensed trust company — Wealth Assets
Trustee Limited and served as the chairman.

PN —
~ § . .

i

A

PRE A > 580 > H-FE_—4FHHAT=H
PR ERAT AATES - BRE A HBERNE
AR ERER B — L/ ONFRE
AR RS - IR ERE SR LA o A
ST AR - B SCAE A BRATHE - i
TRLAEA% > BEBH MRS S A BB >
EBIRME R A e P B TR B & 5 3
> PEIMAEE BRI TR
G B RO B W B RIBER - BIALER -
B A P BREA: B R IE G ER - X
AT EMZ B G TR - B -F—JU4FI
A-tWHE-EF " —4FHHA=H > B#HEL
AREHBREBARAR Fis EHAR)
MPATES -

FHTES

MEBEE ((MEE] > 605 - h —F
—HEAH T HBRERAE R RATES - 4K
SR BB S RO R AR AER A L >
TP S 4 ) PR SRUIE T 2 ) i B LIRS A U
A /A AEAUOR S S i G Bl AR, > RO &
W R AW KBRS -
AR~ ERAIEREAT - BRE SRS
B R Jm e PRAC B o BEAR > MROEAEAISH
B REHAZE &Wﬁ%ﬁ*mﬂ&%
HRELE] > R R UL AR
BRAEUR ~ fok (0 i Pl < PP 45 A T
—L4F ’$*?EQEY‘TTE£,\ﬁ%ALZKﬁﬁﬁﬁé}EéEﬁ
[ > WS B T R AR —EE
FEGENARATR > WAL B -

34 China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited [ T - 1 45 i £E [3] 45 BR A 7]



\,

Blographlcal ?@;etalls of Directors and Senior Management

AN

Independent non-executive directors
Dr. Guo Yike (“Dr. Guo”), aged 59, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 4 August 2021. Dr. Guo

UNL '

is also the chairman of the Technology Development Committee
of the Group. Dr. Guo is a Fellow of the Royal Academy of
Engineering, a Fellow of the Academy of Europe and the Director
of the Data Science Institute of Imperial College London; the
Vice President (Research and Development) of Hong Kong Baptist
University; the Dean of the School of Computer Engineering and
Science, Shanghai University, the Honorary Vice President of the
Chinese Association for Artificial Intelligence, the co-founder
of Gold-wood Learning. Dr. Guo studied in the Department of
Computer Science, Tsinghua University from 1980 to 1987, and
obtained the first class honors bachelor’s degree in engineering
and became the first batch of graduate and doctoral students
in Tsinghua University. He was sent to the United Kingdom to
study by the government in 1987, and graduated with a PhD
in Computer Science from Imperial College London in 1994. He
founded the Data Science Institute at Imperial College London
and was appointed as the Director in 2014. In April 2015,
Shanghai University appointed Dr. Guo as the Dean of the School
of Computer Engineering and Science. In January 2020, Dr. Guo
served as the Vice-President (Research and Development) of Hong
Kong Baptist University.

Dr. Guo is a world-renowned scientist in the field of large-scale
data mining technology, systems and applications. Dr. Guo has
been interviewed by national leaders as the representative of
outstanding Chinese in the UK and provided suggestions for
the development of national science and technology. Dr. Guo
in currently an independent non-executive director of Lizhi Inc.
(NASDAQ: LIZI) and an independent non-executive director of a
Hong Kong listed company, Bairong Inc.
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Mr. Wang Anyuan (“Mr. Wang”), aged 50, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director since 18 November
2021. Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor's degree specialising in
maritime and communication accounting from the Shanghai
Maritime University in July 1994. He joined China Merchants
Group and served as the manager of the audit (risk assurance)
department from September 1996 to July 2001, the chief financial
officer of China Merchants Securities (HK) Company Limited from
July 2001 to January 2007 and general manager of audit (risk
assurance) department of China Merchants Finance Holdings
Company Limited from February 2007 to February 2008. In April
2008, Mr. Wang served BOCOM International Holdings Company
Limited as an executive director and head of China operation,
responsible for the equity sales. From June to December 2009,
Mr. Wang served CITIC Securities International as a director
and head of China operation, responsible for their securities
business and had been the account executive of CITIC Securities
International Company Limited from January 2010 to November
2012. In October 2012, Mr. Wang served as a deputy head of
brokerage department of China Investment Securities (Hong Kong)
Financial Holdings Limited, responsible for securities trading. In
February 2013, Mr. Wang served as a responsible officer of China
Investment Securities International Brokerage Limited of Type 1
(Dealing in Securities) regulated activities as defined in the SFO.
Since May 2013, Mr. Wang joined Orient Finance Holdings (Hong
Kong) Limited as a business director of the brokerage department.
Mr. Wang was an executive director, compliance officer and
authorised representative of a Hong Kong listed Company,
Farnova Group Holdings Limited from September 2015 to January
2018. He is currently an independent non-executive director of
a Hong Kong listed Company, F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group
Limited. Mr. Wang is licensed with the SFC as a representative of
Orient Securities Limited to carry out type 1 (dealing in securities)
regulated activity and as a representative of Orient Futures (Hong
Kong) Limited to carry out type 2 (dealing in futures contract)
regulated activity.
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Mr. Yu Wai Chun (“Mr. Yu"), aged 48, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since 16 October 2020,
Mr. Yu graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy and with an MBA degree
from City, University of London, he is a fellow member of both
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
Mr. Yu
possesses more than 20 years executive experiences in accounting,
corporate finance, risk management and internal controls. He has
been the chief financial officer of Cornerstone Financial Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8112) (“Cornerstone”) since 2015. Mr. Yu is
currently an independent non-executive director of a Hong Kong
listed Company, Windmill Group Limited. Prior to that, Mr. Yu
held key corporate positions in various companies, including chief
financial officer of Culture Landmark Investment Limited (now
known as China Tangshang Holdings Limited, stock code: 674)
and Assistant General Manager of China Resources Enterprise
Limited (now known as China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company
Limited, stock code: 291), consultant at KPMG Consulting (Asia)
Limited ("KPMG") and assistant manager at KPMG.

|
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the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Jiang Dongmei (“Dr. Jiang”), aged 50, Chief Scientific
Officer of the Group and Chairman of the Strategic Development
Committee of the Group, is responsible for the Carbon Neutral
Business and the development and execution of corporate
strategies on the Carbon Neutral Business. Dr. Jiang holds a
post-doctoral degree in the School of Environment of Tsinghua
University and the Institute of Nuclear and New Energy Research
of Tsinghua University. Dr. Jiang is also a world-renowned expert
on climate change. Dr. Jiang has been invited to deliver a speech
on “Combat Climate Change” at the United Nations Headquarters
in Manhattan and participated in the compilation of the second
and third communication to UNFCCC on China’s inventory of
GHG emissions from industrial process.

: . ® ; :
Biographical‘Details of Directors and

Senior Management
EENEREEEER

REREEE ((REED 485 > B —F
T+ H N H B AT S AL AT
F oo R R US I TN BAG & 5
LR B - 0 A ARBORER T 2B (City,
University of London) H1% T i 4 #ELAE 1 5
L o WA EWEFHA G R ERFTFARE
FHETAGEREE - RIEARGRT - A
B~ JE B A B A A ) 5 TR AL 204E AT B
KEy o HH _F—-AFREREAEO SR
BERABR A (oAt - 8112) [BHD 1Y
HEMHEE - RAELEHTEBEEBEGRA
A (s EHTAR) MBSLIERATES o 7RI
ZHT o ARIEE RG22 [ A AT BRI SEE Rk
%o AAE L AR E A BR A =] (B
JEBERARAR > BOR5E : 674) BAF
AR T e R A PR m] (B A 2 S g (4%
&) ARAE > B9t 291) By AL
B RIS G ARAR (RER)
AL ) B S SR B B AR B o

EREEE

LB ([EEL)) > 505 - AEMER
BHEEZ BN 3 R Z B o £ 2 & B
SEAEASEH IR A SERS > GFERR P AN SE T
e B AN LR SE BV o R LR
R EL TR} B BT R B o 1o - 4% A% e B R
REVRBT 7L e i £ AR o S 1 R 2Bk 44 1
BRI E > G AR 5 B LA AT
il Je (e B RO AR A AL R 2B R [
B — B B 2R K BB =B R PRS-

Annual Report 2021 =&~ —4F4FEH 37



~ Tl
~ < il

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Manageme
EENSNEEERRE -

Mr. Wong Kin Yan, aged 52, is the Environmental and Quality
Manager of the Group, responsible for the implementation
and maintenance of our Group’s environmental and quality
management systems. Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor Degree
in Applied Science in December 1994 from Hong Kong Baptist
University. He is a Chartered Environmentalist and a corporate
member of the Society of Environmental Engineers. He has over 19
years of experience in the environmental and quality management
in the construction field. He is the Management Representative
of Excel’s ISO 9001 Quality Management System and ISO 14001
Environmental Management System.

*  For identification only
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The Board is responsible for, amongst other things, the
development and review of the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group and monitoring the compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, and reviewing the corporate governance
compliance with the Code Provisions and disclosure in the annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CG CODE

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) and to enhance corporate value
and accountability. The Company has adopted the Corporate
Governance Code (version up to 31 December 2021) (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules since 11
December 2013, the date on which dealings in its shares first
commence on the Stock Exchange.

The Company regularly reviews its corporate governance practices
to ensure they comply with the CG Code and align with the latest
developments.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has
complied with the code provisions set out in the CG Code with
the following exceptions:

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. During the period from 1
January to 8 February 2021, the Company has not appointed
the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”), and the roles
and functions of the Chairman have been performed by all the
executive Directors collectively. On 9 February 2021, Mr. Chen
Bingyan, a former non-executive Director, was appointed as the
Chairman. On 17 March 2021, Mr. Chen Bingyan resigned as the
non-executive Director and the Chairman. On 18 March 2021, Dr.
Gao Gunter, a former executive Director, was appointed as the
Chairman. On 17 November 2021,
the executive Director and the Chairman. On 18 November 2021,
Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna was appointed, among others, as an
executive Director and the Chairman. During the period from 9
February 2021 to 31 December 2021 (the “Period”), the roles of
chairman and chief executive have been separated.

Dr. Gao Gunter resigned as

Corporate Governance Report
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Code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code requires that the Chairman
should at least annually hold meetings with the independent
non-executive directors without the presence of other directors.
During the Period, the Chairman, did not hold any meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence
of other Directors. However, the Chairman held meetings with
the independent non-executive Directors with the presence of
other Directors periodically during the Period to understand their
concerns, to discuss pertinent issues and to ensure that there was
access to adequate and complete information. The independent
non-executive Directors could have direct contacts with the
Chairman after meetings if necessary.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code requires that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. Each of Mr. Lam Po Foon, the non-executive Director,
and Mr. Yu Wai Chun, the independent non-executive Director,
has not been appointed for any specific term, and each is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual
general meeting in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company (the “Articles”).

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code requires that independent
non-executive directors and other non-executive directors, as
equal board members, should give the board and any committees
on which they serve the benefit of their skills, expertise and varied
backgrounds and qualifications through regular attendance and
active participation. They should also attend general meetings
to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
Shareholders. No independent non-executive Directors attended
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 8 April
2021 after considering the quarantine measures adopted by The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for
the COVID-19 outbreak. Nevertheless, other member of the Board
attended this meeting to ensure effective communication with the
Shareholders. Moreover, all independent non-executive Directors
attended the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30
June 2021.

A SR S A SF RSO A2 7R ILE >
Ji# 22 D A A B S R AT R AT IR
AHANESE B G o RZMRE > R
e DL 57 JF AT 3 A S A T o R DL
TEITEE® o AT > REME > EREE
Sy B 57 I AT S A LA S RS DL
BATER > DIRBEHENE - Rla B SR8 &
TR PR AT ARG KL 400 S SEMR R EORE o I AL
P57 IR AT R B R A AR AT B B
ik

SRR R ST RIS A A RBUE R BT
AR E LI R - R E
HME B R AT R ER A
& MR EALS > SRR ERIRA 2 A ALK
RN ((ERAAN)) 7EA 7l B AR
o bR AR KR EAT o

SRR SCER A6 7TIRKLE » B F AT HE F
o HoAth I AT 28 FAF 2y BUH A FE A W) 55
WA WERERE  BEMLEESG R
HFERHEZBEGRENZ B MRl
M2 B > DR - EEME A
] (9 5 JOEARAE BB R o M G R
EKE > HARABRYERGE2N - A
E BB F o 25 8 B U R I AT B LS IBURT BT 3
COVID-19%E 18 BRI AR PE TS e 1% > AN B
SEBATER AN A
JNHBATHBCRAERIR & - At - HAtb
HHRGMA LR > MR ARL
W o UL > 2B IERITESR YA LR
RN FIR ZF N H = H BT R
HERE o

40 China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited [ T - 1 45 i £E [3] 45 BR A 7]



e

;T

-

L

4 -

UNL '

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting the required
standard set out in the model code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as contained in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). The Company has made
specific enquiry of all Directors regarding any non-compliance
with the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2021,
all Directors confirmed their respective full compliance with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance of the Group. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of
the Group to the senior management of the Group. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management. To oversee particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established three Board
committees including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee (together, the “Board
Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board Committees
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith,
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

All Directors have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. All Directors have separate
and independent access to the advices and services of the senior
management and the company secretary with a view to ensuring
that board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations,
are followed.
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Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised five executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Xinwei (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Di Ling

Dr. Cui Dingjun

Mr. Chen Lei

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Lam Po Foon

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Guo Yike

Mr. Wang Anyuan

Mr. Yu Wai Chun

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 32 to 38 of this annual report.

Independent non-executive Directors

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors with at least one independent non-executive
Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.
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The Board has assessed the independence of all the independent
non-executive Directors. Having considered the guidelines as set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Board considers all of them
to be independent having regard to (i) their annual confirmation
on independence as required under the Listing Rules; (ii) the
absence of involvement in the daily management of the Company;
(iii) the absence of any relationships or circumstances which would
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment; and (iv)
the absence of remuneration from the Company other than the
directors’ fee.

Relationship among members of the Board

Saved as disclosed in the “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report, there are no relationships
(including financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships) among members of the Board.

Continuous Professional Development

During the Year, the Company has provided regular updates
to Directors on material changes to regulatory requirements
applicable to the Directors and the Company and on the latest
business development of the Company. The Directors confirmed
that they have complied with code provision A.6.5 of the CG
Code on directors’ training. During the Year, the Directors have
participated in continuous professional development by attending
webinars/reading materials to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills in areas related to their roles, functions and duties of
Directors such as corporate governance, regulatory updates and
topics related to the Company’s businesses, and provided their
respective record of training to the Company.
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The table below summarises the participation of the Directors in  FHR#EFIEFREIF-F - —F+-H=+
training during the year ended 31 December 2021: — H I 2 B 2 A SR

Types of training

ZAE 5
Attending seminars/ Reading journals/updates/

Name of Director conferences/forums articles/materials
EEpA LEMRSE aF Wi BIEHT REFEN XEER
Executive Directors
HITES
Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna v v
Bk FH R 2+
Mr. Chen Xinwei v v
BREKHR S A
Dr. Cui Dingjun 4 N/A
FEE HIH L AN
Mr. Di Ling v v
KR & ek
Mr. Chen Lei v v
RS oA
Dr. Gao Gunter Note 1) N/A N/A
S¢S ANE AN
Mr. Lam Wah ®ote2) N/A N/A
MR S A GER2) N N
Mr. Xing Bin (Note 3) N/A N/A
TRVE S e (s AN H A7
Mr. Chin Chun Hin (Note 4 N/A N/A
ERIRAF oAk e AE AN
Mr. Artem Matyushok Mote ) N/A N/A
Artem MatyushokJgA: @) ANt N
Mr. Brett Ashley Wight (Note &) N/A N/A
Brett Ashley Wight4p4: (e AN H A7
Non-executive Directors
FHTES
Mr. Lam Po Foon v v
ME BT E
Mr. Chen Bingyan (et 7 N/A N/A
WA % S A R AE AN
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Attending seminars/

TERERBRE

Types of training
2 kbl

Reading journals/updates/

Name of Director conferences/forums articles/materials
EspA LERNE &8 Wil BIEMT BRHER XEER
Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHITES

Dr. Guo Yike v v

TR L

Mr. Wang Anyuan v v

E&ITEE

Mr. Yu Wai Chun v N/A

RIERTE A

Mr. Ip Mei Shun (Note® N/A N/A

IERESEA ERe) N AT H

Mr. Leung Tsz Wing Mot 9 N/A N/A

BT RESE A R AN T AN T

Notes:

(1) Dr. Gao Gunter resigned as an executive Director on 17 November

2021.

(2)  Mr. Lam Wah resigned as an executive Director on 2 March 2021.

(3)  Mr. Xing Bin resigned as an executive Director on 2 March 2021.

(4)  Mr. Chin Chun Hin resigned as an executive Director on 17 March

2021.

(5)  Mr. Artem Matyushok resigned as an executive Director on 24

September 2021.

(6)  Mr. Brett Ashley Wight resigned as an executive Director on 5 April

2021.
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62 5 =
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(3)  TREEAN FE A THBHEAT
ok

@) BRIPEAER -F - —F=A+EHRIE
BRI

(5)  Artem MatyushokJGERE ——F ILH —+
VU H BT TE S o

(6)  Brett Ashley WightsE A4 it =& ——4F 0 A
HH BT TES -
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(7)  Mr. Chen Bingyan resigned as a non-executive Director on 17 March
2021.

(8)  Mr. Ip Mei Shun resigned as an independent non-executive Director
on 18 November 2021.

(9)  Mr. Leung Tsz Wing resigned as an independent non-executive
Director on 18 November 2021.

Meetings

Code Provision A.1.1 of the CG Code requires that at least
four regular board meetings should be held in each year at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of
majority of Directors, either in person or through electronic means
of communication.

The Company convened and held twenty-two Board meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Additional Board meetings will be convened, as and when required,
to deal with ad hoc issues. Any Director who is not able to present
physically may participate at any Board meeting through electronic
means of communication, such as conference telephone or other
similar communication equipment, in accordance with the Articles.

Notice convening each regular Board meeting is sent at least 14
days in advance, and reasonable notice is given for other Board
meetings and committee meetings. The company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman
and the executive Director(s) to prepare the meeting notice and
agenda. Each Director may include any item in the agenda. Save
for urgent matters which require the Board’s or a committee's
immediate attention and therefore lead to a short notice of a
meeting, the agenda, accompanied by meeting papers with
sufficient and reliable information, are sent to each Director at
least 3 days before each Board meeting or committee meeting to
enable the Directors to make informed decisions on the matters
to be discussed.
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The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes will normally be circulated to Directors for comment
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version
is open for Directors’ inspection.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, twenty-two Board
meetings, three Audit Committee meetings, six Remuneration
Committee meetings, seven Nomination Committee meetings and
two general meetings were held. Details of individual Directors’
attendance at these meetings are set out in the following table:
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Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Director meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
EREEE FMzEES REZES
BEEps Ezgea 23 = 23 S E VN
Executive Directors
HITES
Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
WP 2+ AR A AEH A AN A
(appointed on 18 November 2021)
B _FZ—FEf—H+/N\HEZ)
Mr. Chen Xinwei 17117 N/A N/A N/A 2/2
Bk I S A A A A
(appointed on 2 March 2021)
RFE D —AEZH T HEFAT
Dr. Cui Dingjun 6/13 N/A N/A N/A 0/2
HER ML AEM AR A
(appointed on 18 March 2021)
(H=F=—F=H /N HEZE)
Mr. Di Ling 12/13 N/A N/A N/A 0/2
F & et N N AR
(appointed on 18 March 2021)
R ZFEZ—FE=H A /\HEZAT)
Mr. Chen Lei 3/8 N/A N/A N/A 0/1
B et AEH A A

(appointed on 13 May 2021)
R E LA = HER)
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Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Director meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
EREER FMZzEES REZES
EEnA Exees 23 2% 23 BREAE
Dr. Gao Gunter 8/17 N/A N/A N/A 0/2
[FL G AEH A A
(appointed on 2 March 2021 and
resigned on 17 November 2021)
W oFEZ—F=H-HEZFRK_-F
=L HEHE)
Mr. Artem Matyushok 1/20 N/A N/A N/A 0/2
Artem Matyushok /&4 AEH ARH A
(resigned on 24 September 2021)
(R ZFZ—4EAH A0 A BHE)
Mr. Brett Ashley Wight 0/11 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Brett Ashley WightJE4: AEA A A AEH
(resigned on 5 April 2021)
(P =FZ—FEMH I HFHT)
Mr. Chin Chun Hin 5/7 N/A N/A N/A N/A
AR A A A A
(resigned on 17 March 2021)
(=T —AE=H AL H D
Mr. Lam Wah 2/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
PREE S AEM A A A
(resigned on 2 March 2021)
(P =FEZ—FE=H ZHEHT)
Mr. Xing Bin 2/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
il pistes vt NN NN bt
(resigned on 2 March 2021)
(= FE = —F=H = HEFHT)
Non-executive Directors
FHTES
Mr. Lam Po Foon 3/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A
MEE S AEH AN A AEH
(appointed on 10 August 2021)
R E AN A HEZA)
Mr. Chen Bingyan 0/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
B 2 554 A A A A

(appointed on 2 February 2021 and
resigned on 17 March 20217)

W oFZ—FEZH _HEFFRRF
Z—4E=H L HBHE)
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Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Director meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
EREES FHEES REZES

EEnA Exees 23 23 25 BREAE
Independent Non-executive Directors
BIKHITES
Dr. Guo Yike 2/6 12 1/2 2/3 N/A
AL A

(appointed on 4 August 2021)

(= FEZ—FNA Y HEZ(F)
Mr. Wang Anyuan N/A 11 N/A N/A N/A
EZkE AR b A N

(appointed on 18 November 2021)

R =FEZ—aEf— A/ EZAT)
Mr. Yu Wai Chun 20/22 3/3 6/6 717 12
RERAE
Mr. Leung Tsz Wing 18/22 2/2 6/6 717 172
RTRIEE

(resigned on 18 November 2021)

(= FEZ—2Ef—H+/UHBHE)
Mr. Ip Mei Shun 14/22 12 5/6 6/7 12
EEIEEE

(resigned on 18 November 2021)

(== 4 f— A 1/ HBHE)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FERITBAR

The roles of the Chairman and the chief executive officer are
segregated. Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna is the chairman of the Board.
The Chairman is mainly responsible for taking the lead in the Board
to ensure its effective operation, providing adequate, complete
and reliable information for all Directors in a timely manner,
establishing good corporate governance practices and procedures,
encouraging all Directors to contribute to the Board’s affairs,
and ensuring that proper approaches are adopted to maintain
effective communication with shareholders. Mr. Chen Xinwei is
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The Chief Executive
Officer is mainly responsible for the day-to-day operations and
overall management of the Group, and implementing the business
policies and objectives determined and adopted by the Board.
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Terms of appointment of independent non-executive
Directors and non-executive Directors

Each of Mr. Yu Wai Chun and Mr. Lam Po Foon has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company which may be
terminated by either party giving to the other not less than one-
month prior notice in writing. Each of Dr. Guo Yike and Mr. Wang
Anyuan, has entered into a letter of appointment for a term of
three years commencing from 4 August 2021 and 18 November
2021 respectively. Each of Mr. Yu Wai Chun, Mr. Lam Po Foon,
Mr. Guo Yike and Mr. Wang Anyuan is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting
in accordance with the Articles.

Directors’ Liability Insurance

The Company purchases annually the Directors’ and officers’
liability insurance for members of the Board. The insurance cover
is reviewed annually to ensure that the Directors and officers are
adequately protected against potential liabilities.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up three Board Committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in compliance with Rules
3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and Code Provision C.3.3 of
the CG Code. The full terms of reference of the Audit Committee
are available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
systems of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
members of the Audit Committee comprised Mr. Wang Anyuan
(chairman of the Audit Committee) (appointed on 18 November
2021), Mr. Guo Yike (appointed on 4 August 2021), Mr. Yu
Wai Chun, Mr. Leung Tsz Wing (former chairman of the Audit
Committee and resigned on 18 November 2021) and Mr. Ip Mei
Shun (resigned on 18 November 2021), being the independent
non-executive Directors.
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The Audit Committee meets at least twice annually and also meets
with the Company’s external auditor at least twice annually to
discuss the audit plan and to review the Company’s annual report
and accounts. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Audit Committee held 3 meetings. The attendance record of the
meeting held by the Audit Committee during the year ended 31
December 2021 are set out in the section headed “Meetings” on
pages 46 to 49 of this annual report.

The Audit Committee also reviewed final results of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2021 as well
as the audit report prepared by the external auditor relating to
accounting issues and major findings in course of audit.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in compliance with
Rules 3.25 and 3.26 of the Listing Rules and Code Provision B.1.2
of the CG Code. The full terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review
and determine the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses
and other compensation payable to the Directors and senior
management. During the year ended 31 December 2021, members
of the Remuneration Committee comprised Dr. Guo Yike (chairman
of the Remuneration Committee) (appointed on 4 August 2021),
Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna (appointed on 18 November 2021), Mr.
Wang Anyuan (appointed on 18 November 2021), Mr. Yu Wai
Chun, Mr. Ip Mei Shun (resigned on 18 November 2021) and Mr.
Leung Tsz Wing (resigned on 18 November 2021).

It is the Company’s policy that the remuneration package of each
Director and senior management shall be determined by reference
to the duties, responsibilities, experience and qualifications of
each candidate.
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The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year to review
the remuneration of Directors and make recommendations to the
Board. During the year ended 31 December 2021, six meetings of
the Remuneration Committee were held. The attendance record
of the meeting held by the Remuneration Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the section headed
“Meetings” on pages 46 to 49 of this annual report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in compliance with
Code Provision A.5.1 and A.5.2 of the CG Code. The full terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee are available on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the nomination committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the nominees for appointment
as Directors of the Company. During the year ended 31 December
2021, members of the Nomination Committee comprised Ms.
Chan Tan Na Donna (chairman of the Nomination Committee)
(appointed on 18 November 2021), Dr. Guo Yike (appointed on
4 August 2021), Mr. Wang Anyuan (appointed on 18 November
2021), Mr. Yu Wai Chun (ceased to be the chairman of the
Nomination Committee on 18 November 2021), Mr. Ip Mei Shun
(resigned on 18 November 2021) and Mr. Leung Tsz Wing
(resigned on 18 November 2021).

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, seven meetings of the Nomination
Committee were held. The attendance record of the meeting held
by the Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 December
2021 are set out in the section headed “Meetings” on pages 46
to 49 of this annual report.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

1.

Criteria

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets
out the selection criteria in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate as Director. Such criteria include, but
are not limited to the character and integrity, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy
of the proposed candidate, and the board diversity.

Nomination Procedures

Appointment of New Director

. The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out in section 1 to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

J If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of
the Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable).

o The Nomination Committee shall make recommendation
to the Board in respect of the appointment of
appropriate candidate for directorship.

o For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set
out in section 1 to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall make
recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of director at the general meeting.

Corporate Governance Report

TERERBRE

EERA
1. BE

EHFORMRMEOR - R4 ZA®
Be /BT S R AN K B A
NI > BB R H N Kl fs - HEE
B BORE A R RS R A SRS
AR A S AL > MEHE Lol -

RERRF

ZEEHEE

o WRAZAGR /NEHRGIEEZI
ZAT B o S P S A Y SR
OB (O B AR 1) AR B AR 4R 261
i T ROR A A B N -
E %N TAT & B IR E
£

o HARBRAE -~ XRZAEE
fREEN > RAEZBEERRESR
EARIEA A AR LA E A
MR G ) Baz s s g
FTEsEREdr 4 -

o RAZAGEMBILAEMEN
P A 8 2 ) 3 o 4R b AR

oo

o BIMTAT i BORAEA 2 BRI KR
T LRABEEFHOANL - 25
ZHE R G AR H
PR e il A B B > DA
EZPEARG & ERIELES
—H I B IR EE e R
B I R RO & R
) A L B R

Annual Report 2021 =&~ —4F4FE#H 53



Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

o The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director including his/her
attendance of Board meetings and, where applicable,
general meetings, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

. The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall also
review and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out in section 1.

o The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
then make recommendation to Shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

In order to strengthen the business development of the Company,
enhancement of the effectiveness and performance of the Board
are the fundamental and vital elements. The Company believes
that diversity at the Board level can intensify these fundamental
elements. The Board diversity shall consider from, including
but not limited to, age, gender, educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All the appointments of the Board members shall be based on the
positive contribution to be brought by the proposed candidate to
the Company, its subsidiaries and/or its affiliated companies of
the Group.
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It is set out below a list of measurable objectives for selection
of candidates. The list is only an indication of factors relevant to
the selection of candidates to be considered by the Nomination
Committee and shall not be regarded as conclusive nor exhaustive
in nature. Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee may
take into account and/or further adopt and/or weight against one
another such factor(s) relevant to the business to be transacted.

Age: 18 or over.

o Gender: Welcome both genders with no preference for any
particular proportion.

o Professional qualification: At least one independent non-
executive Director shall possess appropriate professional
qualifications in finance and accounting and meets the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

o Composition: One third of the Board or minimum three
members shall be independent non-executive Directors to
meet the requirements of the Listing Rules.

o Service period: Independent non-executive Directors’ tenure
(as at the date of re-appointment) could be relevant to the
determination of a non-executive Directors’ independence.
Re-appointment of independent non-executive Director
serving more than 9 years should be in full compliance with
the Listing Rules requirements.

o Other experience: Knowledge and experience which may
contribute to the business of the Company.

e Any other relevant factors

As at the date of this report, one Director is female and eight
Directors are male. The Nomination Committee acknowledged
that there was an imbalance between the male and female
Directors. Consideration of such fact would be taken into account
for selection and appointment of future candidates. Other than
the gender mentioned above, the Nomination Committee and the
Board considered that the composition of the Board was balanced
and diversified.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021, which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group on a
going concern basis. The Board is provided with explanations and
information by the senior management of the Company, so that
the Directors have an informed assessment of the financial and
other information of the Group putting forward to the Board for
discussion and approval.

The external auditor of the Company acknowledges his reporting
responsibilities in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 as set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 137 to 148 of
the annual report.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2021, the total
remuneration of audit service paid and payable to the Company’s
external auditors was approximately HK$1.4 million.

ESHBUMBHRRNVBRBREL

WA A BT DA A 1 2 e R R
AAFRAEEEE —F-—F+-H=+
— H IR B2 AR > UEE BA TR
WAL E) AR 2 BRI o 8 R i
AN = A LB PR LR B ROk 5 DA
ki S v A A B 1 A S K
HoAth BORME B AE 514 -

AR Z MR BT TE A AR EE 137 £ 148 H
MBS A B R WA RS AR
T+ A= HIEEREREN
T8 ST A BT 1 R R AT o

BT &

BE_Z - —FT_A=T—HIEFE &
O R AT IR A5 LA B A 471 M A S ) P
4 #151,400,000 7T :

56 China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited [ T - 1 45 i £E [3] 45 BR A 7]



RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound risk management
and internal control systems to ensure that a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group has been conducted at least annually, covering all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls, and ensuring adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programs and budget of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Board has also considered the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programs.

The Company conducted review of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021, in order to ensure and enhance (i) proper
process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks;
(ii) main features of the risk management and internal control
systems were identified; (iii) the systems were designed to manage
the risks to achieve business objectives and provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss; (iv) appropriate
process to resolve material internal control defects; and (v)
effective procedures and internal controls for inside information
management. The Company has conducted a review of the
internal audit function of the Group.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group annually and considered
that the systems were appropriate.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged in a service contract with an external
service provider, Ms. Han Lei, who has been appointed as the
Company Secretary since 11 April 2021. Mr. Chen Xinwei, the
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer, is the primary
corporate contact person of the Company with Ms. Han Lei.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Ms. Han Lei has
complied with the relevant professional training requirement
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of timely
disclosure of information, which will enable shareholders and
investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The various channels via which the Company communicates with
its shareholders include interim and annual reports, information
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, annual
general meeting and other general meeting that may be convened.

RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

e The right to attend the annual general meeting
and to receive information
The annual general meeting of the Company provides
opportunity for shareholders to communicate directly with
the Directors. The Chairman and the chairman of the Board
committees will attend the annual general meeting to
answer shareholders’ questions. In their absence, he should
invite another member of the committee or failing this his
duly appointed delegate, to attend. These persons should
be available to answer questions at the annual general
meeting. The chairman of the independent board committee
(if any) should also be available to answer questions at any
general meeting to approve a connected transaction or any
other transaction that requires independent shareholders’
approval. The external auditor of the Company will also
attend the annual general meeting to answer questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and contents
of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.

DEWE

AR ) BB AN AR OB HR A R e L RT T R
BER > BER AR -F_—FNH +—
H B GRS AT A AR - AT E S HATELAR
Fh BB Se A By AN A BLEE AR L E R R
B ETE AN -

WBE_F_—F A=t —HILEE
W L ey EATALRIEE3. 290 T 2 AR
BEERIIHE o

ERRBERREEBE

ARy o BB 4 A S0 o B
HBRR S BEE MR R A SR B S5 - R B
Lo Rems JE BB o AN R IRGRAR M Ry 4 R
OB B AR B 5 A R B PR Y
B -

A ) BR324 b 4 B AR R
et ~ WIS B RA N AR R ~ i
AR DAL H A T REH BRI RO & -

IR R AR
s HERREBFASREERERE
Bl

A ) e SR AR R g R 4 BOR B o
HEHENKE  HHFgEHAAHE
T B R R RO AR
BRI o M SRR - I
TR g 2 AR R Sz A
TARAEHE - AIHEXZEZAR H
o w55 N IR 4 K L vl
B - WY EFREZAGEN WA
IR AT AT B SRR B b [ 24 f2 ) > LA
L ZR A S e AR o 2 B S B
BAL (T H AL S 5y o AR 0% Al B SN AZ B
HT I 1 1 6 BB 4R R > LA A
BH 2 RE AT RO A A AR R e A
A EEHEOR R AR B S R R o

58 China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited [ T - 1 45 i £E [3] 45 BR A 7]



Copies of the reporting documents, including financial
statements, the Directors’ report and the auditor’s report
must be sent to members at least 21 working days before
the annual general meeting of the Company.

The right to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2 months
after the deposit of such requisition.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionists as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionists by the Company.

The voting powers at the shareholders’ meetings
Every shareholder has the right to vote at the shareholders
meetings subject to provisions on the Articles.

The power to elect and re-elect Directors and
auditors

The shareholders could hold individual Directors (or the Board
as a whole) to account for their actions by voting against
their re-election. The Articles provides at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not a multiple of 3, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years.
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For the Directors to retire by rotation, and if they wish, they
may submit themselves for re-election at the annual general
meeting. The retiring Directors are eligible for reappointment
to the office.

The shareholders also have the right to approve (or reject) the
appointment of the auditors each year. The Company may by
an ordinary resolution passed at a general meeting remove
a person from the office of auditor despite any agreement
between the person and the Company or anything in the
Articles.

The right to receive information of the Company
The Company shall keep shareholders informed of certain
developments and to obtain shareholder approval for certain
transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules. In these
cases, the Company must communicate with its shareholders
and seek their support.

The right to communicate with the Company

The Chairman or the executive Director should ensure
that the views of the shareholders are communicated to
the Board as a whole and the Chairman or the executive
Director should discuss strategy and governance with the
major shareholders.

Non-executive Directors should be given the opportunity
to attend general meetings with major shareholders, and
should be expected to attend general meetings if requested
by major shareholders.
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CONSTRUCTIVE USE OF GENERAL MEETINGS

Effectiveness of general meetings

Shareholders should be given the opportunity to send in
written questions before the meeting. There should be a
circulation of a brief summary of points raised at the annual
general meeting to all shareholders after the event. The Board
should dispatch a circular accompanying the annual general
meeting notice, which contains comprehensive information
on the business to be transacted at the meeting, together
with summary procedure governing voting at the annual
general meeting and frequently asked questions regarding
voting procedures.

The Company should arrange for the notice of the annual
general meeting and the related papers to be sent to the
shareholders at least 21 working days before the meeting.
For other general meetings this should be at least 14 working
days in advance.

Giving shareholders an opportunity to ask
questions

The Chairman should attend the annual general meeting. He/
she should also invite the chairmen of the audit, nomination
and remuneration committees and any other committees (as
appropriate) to be available to answer questions at the annual
general meeting. In addition, independent non-executive
Directors and other non-executive Directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of
the views of shareholders.

Voting procedure

At any general meeting, the Company proposes a separate
resolution on each substantially separate issue and in
particular proposes a resolution at the annual general meeting
relating to the report and accounts. For each resolution,
proxy appointment forms should provide shareholders with
the option to direct their proxy to vote either for or against
the resolution or to withhold their vote.
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At any general meeting there should also be a separate
resolution to each substantially separate issue. The Company
should avoid “bundling” resolutions unless they are
interdependent and linked forming one significant proposal.
Where the resolutions are “bundled”, the Company should
explain the reasons and material implications in the notice
of meeting.

In the context of voting by proxy and poll results, the
Company should ensure that all valid proxy appointments
received are properly recorded and counted. For each
resolution, after a vote has been taken, except where taken
on a poll, the Company should ensure that the following
information is given at the meeting and made available
as soon as reasonably practicable on a website which is
maintained by or on behalf of the company.

The Company should announce the poll results as soon as
possible and at least 30 minutes before the commencement
of the Exchange’s morning session or any pre-opening
session on the business day following the general meeting.
The poll results announcement must include: the number of
shares entitling the holder to attend and vote at the general
meeting; shares entitling the holder to attend and abstain
from voting in favour; shares of holders that are required
under the Listing Rules to abstain from voting; shares actually
voted for a resolution and shares actually voted against a
resolution.
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SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings
to the Company’s registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

Shareholders and the investment community may at any time
make a request for the Company’s publicly available information.
The designated contacts and addresses to enable them to make
query in respect of the company are:

Contact: the Board of Directors

Address: Room 3302, 33/F, Global Trade Square, No. 21
Wong Chuk Hang Road, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 3728 8710

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”).
A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

The Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders
by way of cash or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate. It is the policy of the Board, in recommending
dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to retain
adequate reserves for future growth. The Company’s decision to
declare or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of
such dividends will depend upon, among other things, the current
and future operations, financial condition, liquidity position and
capital requirements of the Group, as well as dividends received
from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in turn will
depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay
a dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will
be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration
and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong
Kong, the Company’s article of association and any applicable
laws, rules and regulations.
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Whilst this Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on
the financial and cash-flow position of the Group, the Board will
continue to review this Dividend Policy from time to time and the
Board may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update,
amend and/or modify this Dividend Policy at any time as it deems
fit and necessary. There is no assurance that dividends will be
declared or paid in any particular amount for any given period.
The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company that any dividend will be paid in
any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no amendment made to the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2021. The latest version of the constitutional documents of the
Company is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of other members of the Group are set
out in note 1 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the Year (2020: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business, particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred during the Year, and
an indication of likely future development in the Group's business,
are set out in the “Director’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this report. A description of principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group is also set out in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group’s commitment to protecting the environment is well
reflected by its continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in its daily business operations. The Group
encourages environmental protection and promote awareness
towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group
also implements green office practices such as promoting the use
of recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching
off idle lighting and electrical appliances.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time to
time and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures
and practices in the operation of the Group’s businesses and
enhance environmental sustainability.

A further discussion of the environmental policies of the Group is
contained in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
of this report.

Report of the Directors
EEERE

B RORRE B R ) B R A AR AR
ZBEAREABSRE

ITEXE
AT 2 B AR o AR A

BN F 2 FEEBFHBRRN A g RE
BFF5ET o

RERE
ﬁ%@lﬁfﬁ%%&dﬁ$$ IRAS AR,

E 3 E):

BARFEEGN T EES - AFEEREZRY

AL B 2 R AR AR EH 2 7]

RERR BRI IE T > WA [HE R

Lo Vi BT ks S o AT ) o A 5 o B ) £ 22

RFX«&TT@E P 2 3 W TR AR i [ B
i@ Et i B oA

RIBHE

AR EE A R SETS 4 v A B 4 R R R4 i
Rk - DUBATHAREBREEN R o &M
ﬁi!ﬁf’“—‘{%jﬁﬁbﬁﬁﬁf’rfm{%,wﬁa AREEH
INEC I A5 TR Ak N HE b > B an A8 I 3R
PRARAE 375 18 B P ) 1 R I 76 7 LA 2 B
JRIBAE o

AR A ey B EL IR R ROA SIS 5 A
AR I 2 S5 T B it O S R AR I L
B> T BB TR o

A I A 5 T BR S5 R 1A 2 — 2 ol T AN R
o[RBT~ A e LAY -

Annual Report 2021 =&~ —F4F#H 65



Report of the Directors
EEERE

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year, as far as the Group is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five period/years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements, is set out on page 284 in this report. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Group against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto. There is appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as disclosed in the below
section headed “Share Option Scheme” and the section headed
“Convertible Bonds” of “Management Discussion and Analysis”,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company,
or existed during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the Year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the largest customer accounted for approximately
28.5% (2020: approximately 33.4%) of the Group's total revenues.
The five largest customers accounted for approximately 89.3%
(2020: approximately 98.8%) of the Group’s total revenues for
the Year.

For the Civil Engineering and Construction Business, the customer
base is relatively concentrated to certain departments of the
Government, public utilities companies and private organisations
in Hong Kong.

None of the Directors or their respective associates or any
Shareholder (to the knowledge of our Directors) holding more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any interest
in the five largest customers.

The Group’s five largest suppliers, being its suppliers for sub-
contractors for Civil Engineering and Construction segment,
together accounted for approximately 52.4% (2020: approximately
47.9%) of the Group’s total cost of sales charged to the Group
as at the Year. The largest supplier accounted for approximately
23.9% (2020: approximately 16.2%) of the total cost of sales
charged to the Group as at the Year.

Other than as set out in the paragraph above, none of the Directors
or their associates or any Shareholders (to the knowledge of our
Directors) holding more than 5% of the Group’s issued share
capital had any interests in the five largest sub-contractors.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 15 in Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Particulars of loans and borrowings of the group at the balance
sheet date are set out in note 27 in Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND PROMISSORY NOTES
Details of movements in the Company’s convertible bonds and the
promissory notes during the Year are set out in note 28 and note
29 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
Year is set out in note 31 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year
are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no reserve available for distribution to
Shareholders as at 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year

amounted to HK$3,500,000 (2020: Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
or the laws of Cayman lIslands where the Group is incorporated,
which would oblige the Group to offer new shares to existing
Shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

TAX RELIEF

The Group is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed
securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and as at date of

this report were:

Executive Directors:
Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna (Chairman)
(appointed on 18 November 2021)
Mr. Chen Xinwei (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 2 March 2021)
Mr. Di Ling (appointed on 18 March 2021)
Dr. Cui Dingjun
(appointed on 18 March 2021)
Mr. Chen Lei (appointed on 13 May 2021)
Dr. Gao Gunter (appointed on 2 March 2021 and
resigned on 17 November 2021)
Mr. Artem Matyushok
(resigned on 24 September 2021)
Mr. Brett Ashley Wight
(resigned on 5 April 2021)
Mr. Chin Chun Hin (resigned on 17 March 2021)
Mr. Xing Bin (resigned on 2 March 2021)
Mr. Lam Wah (resigned on 2 March 2021)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lam Po Foon (appointed on 10 August 2021)

Mr. Chen Bingyan (appointed on 2 February 2021 and

resigned on 17 March 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Guo Yike (appointed on 4 August 2021)
Mr. Wang Anyuan

(appointed on 18 November 2021)
Mr. Yu Wai Chun
Mr. Ip Mei Shun

(resigned on 18 November 2021)
Mr. Leung Tsz Wing

(resigned on 18 November 2021)
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DIRECTORS (Continued)
In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles, each of Mr. Di
Ling and Dr. Cui Dingjun will retire from the office of Director by
rotation and each of them, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the
“Annual General Meeting”).

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles, each of Dr. Guo
Yike, Mr. Lam Po Foon, Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna and Mr. Wang
Anyuan shall only hold office until the Annual General Meeting
and each of them, being eligible, will offer himself/herself for re-
election at the Annual General Meeting.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considered all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP

Latest biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are set out in the “Biographical Details of Director
and Senior Management” of this report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Board has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules to regulate the Directors’ securities
transactions. The Group had made specific enquiry of all Directors
regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code for the
period under review, and they all have confirmed their respective
full compliance with the required standard set out in the Model

Code during the Year.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Future Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong)
("SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Name of Directors

Esff

Notes Nature of interest

Wi REfNE
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Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna
Bl L

Mr. Di Ling
iE Pt

Mr. Lam Po Foon

WEBEE

(a)

Interest of spouse

Rl

Beneficial owner

5ot 2N

Interest in a controlled corporation

REEEENRER

Founder of a discretionary trust who can influence how the
trustee exercises his discretion
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Subtotal
it

88,000,000 171,500,000 259,500,000 85.93%

= 1,500,000 1,500,000 0.50%
22,000,000 - 22,000,000 7.28%
1,800,000 S 1,800,000 0.60%
23,800,000 - 23,800,000 7.88%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS BEENBESTHAEZRG - HE
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING RO REREZIEZRAAE @)

SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Notes: et -

(@) 88,000,000 Shares and 171,500,000 convertible bonds of the (a)
Company were held by Quick Tycoon Limited, which was wholly
owned by Sound Gem Limited, a company which was wholly-owned
by Mr. Sha Tao. As Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna is the spouse of Mr.

Sha Tao.

(b) 22,000,000 Shares were held by Kasumi One Limited, which is in  (b)
turn wholly owned by Best Beyond Investment Development Limited
(“Best Beyond"). Best Beyond is wholly owned by Classica Holdings
Limited, whose share is jointly held by Mr. Lam and Ms. Mok Yin
Ling Helen, spouse of Mr. Lam. Mr. Lam is also the founder of a
discretionary trust who can influence how the trustee exercises his
discretion in relation to 1,800,000 shares held on trust by Wealth
Assets Trustee Limited.

(c)  Calculation of percentage of interest in the Company is based on (¢
the issued share capital of 302,000,000 Shares as at 31 December
2021.

88,000,000 Ji% % 43 #11171,500,000 % A% 23
A AT A S B RE 25 PR BOKE A R A D
> MiSha TaosE4: & & #EA Z Sound Gem
Limited 154 8Ol A R A 7] 23S o BT
R4z +- F5Sha Taose A= HOBC A -

22,000,000 A% B% #/3 F Kasumi One Limited
4 > T Kasumi One Limited HIl 1 Best
Beyond Investment Development Limited
([Best Beyond|) &% #H - Best Beyond
th Classica Holdings Limited 4 & #E 4 > H
JBE 53 Eby AR 515 A R H R £ B2 A 3% A L AL R +F
A oo M4 R —MAEREETEIE A
b wT 22 5T AT H 1,800,000k 53 (F
#EH Wealth Assets Trustee Limited#545)
BAMEIIEHE 2 7= o

AR 2N FIHE 25 T 40 B S AR AR S | R
Ko+ A=+ —HZOBITRA
302,000,000/7 144 -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the [ EXXr#EgREI » N2 —HF+ " H=
Directors or the chief executive of the Company had registered +—H > FEH AN 7 FEITE A B LT
an interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares — FA 48 /A ) sl AT fa] AR B o [ 2 I 45 ~ AR
of the Company or any of its associated corporations that was B # i A (19 AR 2 55 25 S 10 15 06 91 45 352 1%
required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or  ZE-T-#7 # AR H A e < B 28 260 € A 20 ) K M
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange  3ZfrZ i sk -

pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” and the share options granted under
the share option scheme disclosed in note 32 in Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, at no time during the Year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisitions of
Shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director
or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Director to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No director nor a connected entity of a director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Group, or any of the Group’s subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2021, neither the Company or
any of its subsidiaries had entered into any contract of significance
with the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, nor had
any contract of significance been entered into for the services
provided by the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the Year, no Director was interested in any business
apart from the Group's business, which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS WHO ARE REQUIRED TO DISCLOSE
THEIR INTERESTS PURSUANT TO PART XV OF THE
SFO

As at 31 December 2021, the following persons, other than a
Director or the chief executive of the Company, had interests or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which are required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

REFSRPERMEXVIBARE
BECRBECTERRREMAL

BoFE DA =+t—H THIAL
(EH KA N FATEABRRID AL R Z
7 B AR Bl BB 0 v B AT ZELRE A AR 2 R AR R
Lo 31 B Aok 1) 55 336 0k T A7 B 2 B R Ml TR 2
IR

Percentage of

Number of Number of interest in the
ordinary underlying Company
Name of Shareholders Notes Nature of interest Shares held Shares held Total (Note f)
EALR
fisER gzl EREDL
REks/ 28 M EEME REE ReEE g iG]
Mr. Sha Tao (@ Interest in a controlled corporation 88,000,000 171,500,000 259,500,000 85.93%
Sha Taofetk Geiaiy 40}
Mr. Jiang Jianhui (b)  Interest in a controlled corporation 51,700,000 - 51,700,000 17.12%
LR TEEAEG
Mr. Cao Junsheng () Interestin a controlled corporation 23,760,000 - 23,760,000 787%
ERELE ARG
Mr. Lam Po Foon (d)  Interest in a controlled corporation 22,000,000 - 22,000,000 7.28%
WEBEE it AN
Founder of a discretionary trust who can influence how the 1,800,000 - 1,800,000 0.60%
trustee exercises his discretion
DS SGIN oL &N S Y RAChA LI
Subtotal 23,800,000 - 23,800,000 7.88%
It
Mr. Zhang Yaxun (&) Interest in a controlled corporation 16,240,000 - 16,240,000 5.38%
REfELE Seiaia 40
Mr. Zhang Junjie Beneficial owner 20,000,000 - 20,000,000 6.62%
RERSEE e LN
Notes: Bi5E -
(a) 88,000,000 Shares and 171,500,000 convertible bonds of the (a) 88,000,000 i i 4 %1 171,500,000 i 4 A

Company were held by Quick Tycoon Limited, which was wholly
owned by Sound Gem Limited, a company which was wholly-owned
by Mr. Sha Tao.

) A A A G HE 25 PR B A PR A R EE
A > TMiSha TaosE4: 2 & #EA 2 Sound Gem
Limited 5 A BU A IR R 2% R -

51,700,000 B % £ h 22 MR S A= 2 G WA
Z Youth Force Asia Ltd.#56

(b) 51,700,000 Shares were held by Youth Force Asia Ltd., which was  (b)
wholly owned by Mr. Jiang Jianhui.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS WHO ARE REQUIRED TO DISCLOSE
THEIR INTERESTS PURSUANT TO PART XV OF THE
SFO (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

() 23,760,000 Shares were held by Mao Yuan Capital, which was
wholly owned by Mr. Cao Junsheng.

(d) 22,000,000 Shares were held by Kasumi One Limited, which is in
turn wholly owned by Best Beyond. Best Beyond is wholly owned
by Classica Holdings Limited, whose share is jointly held by Mr. Lam
and Ms. Mok Yin Ling Helen, spouse of Mr. Lam. Mr. Lam is also the
founder of a discretionary trust who can influence how the trustee
exercises his discretion in relation to 1,800,000 shares held on trust
by Wealth Assets Trustee Limited.

(e)  Mr. Zhang Yaxun controls more than one-third of the voting power
of Z&F, he is therefore deemed to be interested in all the 16,240,000
Shares held by Z&F by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

(f)  Calculation of percentage of interest in the Company is based on
the issued share capital of 302,000,000 Shares as at 31 December
2021.

Save as disclosed above and in the paragraph headed “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, as at 31 December
2021, no other person had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Group held on 24
March 2016, the Shareholders approved the adoption of the share
option scheme of the Group (the “Scheme”). The relevant listing
approval was granted by the Stock Exchange on 29 March 2016.
A summary of the principal terms of the Scheme are as follows:

Purpose

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Participants

The eligible participant(s) of the Scheme is/are full time or part
time employees of the Group (including any directors, whether
executive or non-executive and whether independent or not,
of the Group); and any business or joint venture partners,
contractors, agents or representatives, consultants, advisers,
suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees (including
any sub-licensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including
any sub-tenants) of the Group or any person who, in the sole
discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group.

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options which may be granted at any time under
this Scheme together with options which may be granted under
any other share option schemes for the time being of the Group
shall not exceed such number of Shares as equals 10 per cent of
the issued share capital of the Group as at the date of approval
of the Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each eligible participants (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1 per cent of
the Shares in issue.

Option period

The option period of the Scheme, in respect of any particular
option, the period to be determined and notified by the Directors
to the grantee thereof at the time of making an offer provided
that such period shall not exceed the period of ten (10) years from
the date of the grant of the particular option but subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof contained herein.

Acceptance of offer

Any offer of the option of the Group may be accepted by an
eligible participant in the duplicate letter of option grant letter
comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by such eligible
participant and received by the Group together with a remittance
in favour of the Group of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for
the grant thereof within twenty-one (21) days from the offer date.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Exercise price

The exercise price shall be determined at the discretion of the
Board at its absolute discretion, provided that it shall be not less
than the highest of: (a) the closing price of the Shares on the
Stock Exchange as shown in the daily quotations sheet of the
Stock Exchange on the offer date, which must be a Business Day;
(b) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as shown in
the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
(5) Business Days immediately preceding the offer date; (c) the
nominal value of the Share on the offer date.

Remaining life of the Scheme

The Directors shall be entitled at any time within 10 years
commencing on 29 March 2016 to offer the grant of an option
to any eligible participant. The Scheme will expire on 28 March
2026.

Movements of share options

Details of movements in the share options of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 32 in Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's operations, financials and prospects are affected by
risks and uncertainties. The risk factors listed below may directly or
indirectly lead to significant differences in the Group’s operating
performances, financial positions and development prospects
from its expected or past performances. These factors are not
comprehensive, and there may be other risks and uncertainties
that are not known by the Group or may not be noticeable at
present, but may become significant in the future.

Business Risk

Performance of all business segments of the Group may be
affected by fluctuations in market prices and market demands
of the Group’s final products and services. On the other hand,
raw materials or outsourced services which are provided by the
Group’s suppliers are subject to price fluctuations. The Group does
not enter into any material contracts to hedge against such price
fluctuations. Therefore, any increases in these raw materials or
outsourced services will exert pressures on the Group’s production
costs, gross profits and final prices that the Group in turn charges
the customers. If the Group fails to adapt and respond successfully
to the changing demands and supplies, it may adversely affect the
business performance and development prospects.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)
Industry Risk

Civil Engineering and Construction Business is operated in industry
which is highly competitive. Competition may intensify as the
Group’s competitors expand their product or service, lower their
prices, or increase their qualities. There may be new competitors
entering the Group's existing markets as well. If the Group does
not compete successfully against existing and new competitors,
the Group may not be able to maintain its existing business scale
and operation performance.

Policy Risk

Some business segments of the Group must abide by various
policies and regulations. For example, the civil engineering and
construction business is subject to compliance requirements
imposed by the Hong Kong government. The regulators may
require the Group to apply for new licenses, and impose new rules,
regulations or requirements. Changes in policies and regulations
will affect the development of the Group’s business, such as
increasing compliance costs and reducing business opportunities.

Credit Risk

All business segments of the Group allow a credit for their
customers’ payment. All trade and other receivables are accounted
by their carrying amounts less expected credit loss. In the past,
the Group has experienced significant delay in the payment of
the trade and other receivables, and therefore some credit loss
has been recognized in the financial statements of the Group in
accordance with the accounting standards. However, the impaired
amounts of the trade and other receivables do not represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk. Recoverability of such
receivables depends on a lot of factors,
economy, government policies, investor confidences, and most
importantly, the business performances and financial positions of
each debtor.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)
Liquidity Risks

As discussed before, the Group recorded net current liabilities
and net liabilities as at 31 December 2020, indicating that the
Group was exposed to liquidity risk. Despite that the Group has
some measures to raise additional working capital to finance its
operation, there is always a risk that the Group cannot meet its
financial obligations as they fall due.

Other Risks

Some risks are not noticeable from the daily operations of the
Group, but they can have a material adverse impact on the
Group. For example, the harshening business environment from
the U.S.- China trade conflicts, the sharp decrease in Hong
Kong economy after the local political movements, and the
recent COVID-19 outbreak. These kinds of events may interrupt
the Group’s operations, increase prices of raw material and
outsourced services, and deteriorate other risks and uncertainty
that the Group are facing. All such events are outside control of
the Group and there is no guarantee that the Group’s responsive
measures are sufficient to protect the Group’s interests. Given the
complexity and materiality of these events, the Group is of the
view that their impacts may take a longer time to fully emerge.
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TRANSACTIONS WITH CONNECTED AND/OR
RELATED PARTIES

Save for the interest expenses charged by a company of which
a shareholder of the Company is a shareholder, the related
party transactions during the Year as disclosed in note 39 to or
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements did not fall
under the definition of “connected transactions” nor “continuing
connected transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the Company has,
where applicable, complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group has applied the principles and Code Provisions as set
out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.
During the Year, save as disclosed in the “Corporate Governance
Report” of this report, the Group has complied with the Code
Provisions in the CG Code.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other significant
event after the reporting period and up to the date of this report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed minimum public float
under the Listing Rules.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME, COMPANY LOGO
AND STOCK SHORT NAME

The English name of the Company has been changed to “China
Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited” (previously know as
“Bisu Technology Group International Limited”) and the Chinese
name of the Company has been changed to " H Bk RN R A
B BRA T (previously known as * o #UR B 45 [ 1] B A BR A A 7,
with effect from 8 April 2021.

The Company has adopted a new company logo on 14 April 2021,

The stock short name of the Company for trading in the shares
of the Company on the Stock Exchange has been changed to
“C CARBONNEUTRAL” in English and to " H B fi% - F1
with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 3 May 2021.

in Chinese
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CHANGE OF AUDITOR IN ANY OF THE PRECEDING
THREE YEARS

On 28 December 2021, Zenith CPA Limited (“Zenith”) has
resigned as the auditor of the Group with effect from the same
date, as the Company and Zenith could not reach a consensus
on the audit fee for the year ending 31 December 2021. The
Company appointed RSM as the auditor of the Group with effect
from 28 December 2021 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of Zenith.

On 7 April 2022, RSM has resigned as the auditor of the Group
with effect from the same date, as RSM unable to agree with
the Company on a mutually acceptable timetable to complete the
audit for the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
Year, nor to reasonably estimate the time and manpower resources
required to complete all audit works for the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in respect of the Year. The Company
appointed Prism as the auditor of the Group with effect from 7
April 2022 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of
RSM.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 have been audited by Prism.

Prism shall retire in the Annual General Meeting and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Prism as auditor of the Group will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited

Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 May 2022
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Overview

The Board of Directors is pleased to publish the Company’'s
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG"”) Report (“ESG
Report”) for the year ended December 31, 2021 (the “Reporting
Period”). The ESG Report provides an overview of the Group's
policies, sustainable development strategies, management
guidelines and practices in the environmental and social areas of
its business and its performance in such area.

Reporting Scope

The ESG Report covers the Group’s main business related to Global
Carbon Neutral Business and Civil Engineering and Construction
Business.

On January 27, 2021,
Business.

the Group sold its Automotive Engines

Basis For Preparation

The ESG Report discloses data required under “Comply or Explain”
in the Guidelines on Environmental, Social and Governance Report
set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules. The relevant provisions
and details are set out at the end of the ESG Report.

E?@lronmental Social and Governance Report
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Enwronmental Soaal and Governance Report
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Reporting Principles
The Group follows the following reporting principles as a basis for
the preparation of the ESG Report.

1.  Materiality
When the Board of Directors determines that matters relating
to ESG will have a material impact on the Group’s investors
and other stakeholders, the Group should make a report. The
relevant details are disclosed in “Stakeholder Engagement”
and “Materiality Assessment”.

2. Quantitative
Quantified environment and social indicators (”“Key
Performance Indicators”) disclosed in the ESG Report
give the Group’s stakeholders a full picture of the Group’s
performance in ESG. The information is accompanied by a
narrative to explain its purpose and impact.

3. Balance
The ESG Report tries to reflect the Group's performance in all
aspects of ESG in an impartial manner and avoids selection,
omission or reporting formats that may unduly influence the
decisions or judgments to be made by readers of the ESG
Report.

4. Consistency
The Group has used consistent disclosure statistical methods
as far as is reasonably practicable so that ESG data can be
compared meaningfully at a later date.
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Governance Structure

The Board of Directors believes that a sound ESG strategy will
increase the value of the Group’s investments and deliver long-
term returns to its stakeholders. Since the establishment of an
appropriate governance framework is critical to the successful
implementation of the Group’s sustainable development strategy
in respect of ESG, the Group has established an ESG governance
structure with clear duties and responsibilities. The Board of
Directors sets long-term guidelines and strategies for all sustainable
development issues, reviews the implementation and progress of
ESG related work annually and reports on its performance. The
Board of Directors will also identify, review and assess advices
on the Group’s corporate responsibility, sustainable development
and climate change response through internal meetings. The
management team reports to the Board of Directors on a regular
basis to assist the Board of Directors in assessing and determining
whether the Company’s internal monitoring system is appropriate
and effective in controlling ESG related risks. At the operational
level, functional departments are responsible for ensuring that
sustainable development strategies and practices are integrated
into the Group’s business operations and exploring new action
plans or measures.

E‘@lronmental Social and Governance Report
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Governance Structure (Continued) EREE (@

The board members are responsible for:

mEHERE AT

- Formulating long-term sustainable development guidelines and strategies
] R T 1 T AR SR 7 B M SR

Boa rd Of + Assessing and determining risks and opportunities associated with ESG
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DlreCtors - Ensuring appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal monitoring system
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+ Reviewing and approving policies, objectives and action plans or measures related to ESG
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+ Approving the ESG Report
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The management team is responsible for:

B K

- Formulating and reviewing policies, objectives and action plans or measures related to ESG

il 8 BLARHIESGAR B P BOR ~ H A AT Byt S it
+ Monitoring and reporting to the Board of Directors on the progress and quality of implementation
Team of the action plans or measures
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- Identifying risks and opportunities associated with ESG
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+ Reviewing the ESG Report
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Management

The functional departments are responsible for:
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Identifying, assessing, determining and reporting to management on significant ESG issues
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Functional Performing ESG risk management and internal monitoring
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Departments HNATESGJRURG B HE I TA) A B 4
Sk 25U Ensuring that ESG policies, objectives and action plans or measures are integrated into business
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Reporting to management on the progress and quality of implementation of the
action plans or measures
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Governance Structure (Continued)

The Group has collected and analyzed the views of key stakeholders
on matters relating to ESG and conducted a materiality assessment
to identify important ESG issues for the Group. The relevant details
are disclosed in “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment” below. To effectively lead the Group’s ESG process,
the Board of Directors continuously monitors the work of all
departments to ensure that they work closely together to achieve
the sustainable development goals for compliance operation and
social responsibility.

Statement of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors assumes responsibilities for ESG events
and its involvement of the Group’'s management policies and
strategies. It instructs the management and supervision over ESG
topic regarding the Group, and inspects objectives relating to ESG.

Stakeholder Participation

The Board of Directors recognizes that stakeholder views are vital
to the sustainable development of the business and strives to
establish a platform for communication between the Group and
its key stakeholders to ensure the flow of information. The Group
controls and manages relevant parties that may have an impact
on the Group’s operations and management system through the
established control procedures for the needs and expectations
of relevant parties, maintains close contact with government/
regulatory authorities, shareholders/investors, employees,
customers, suppliers, communities and other stakeholders through
multiple channels, and strives to balance views and interests
through constructive exchanges and to understand the needs
and expectations of each stakeholder and then to determine the
direction of sustainable development of the Group. The Group
assesses and determines ESG related risks to ensure that relevant
risk management and internal monitoring system operate properly
and effectively. The expectations and requirements of relevant
stakeholders, communication channels and relevant responses of
the Group management are as follows:
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Stakeholder Participation (Continued) BHESHE (8
Stakeholder Expectation and Requirement Communication Channel Management Response
BHE HEEER BERE EEE@E
Government/Regulatory ~ * Compliance with laws and e Periodic report or o Conduct business with integrity
Authorities regulations announcement comply with business regulations
B/ EERS AL AR E W BN B R R 1T AR
o Fulfillment of tax liability o Regular communication with e Pay tax on time to give back to
BATHLE E AT regulatory organizations society
¢ Green operation E B A R R PR o PG
B g . Ofﬁoal business handling o Establish comprehensive and
o Working together to combat through government websites  effective internal control and
COVID-19 or applications environmental management systems
SR 120195 = BRBUN B SRR B AWA SR RRR
isilN BR
o Fully implement the responsibili
system for safe production
REEATLEEEREHE
o Actively carry out all kinds of
cleaner production measures
TERR AT & T AR A 16 M
o Comply with the government's
COVID-19 measures and guidelines
to halt the spread of COVID-19
Y BUR 0201 97 MR 7 20 4 A
K3l B1E201 9 IR 0 & 1T
Shareholders/Investors e Return on investment * Information disclosure on the e  Management has the relevant
BR/REE K& mH websites of the Company and ~ experience and expertise to ens
* Information transparency the HKEX the sustainable development of
GBI AN T R s B % business
¢ Corporate governance system & B EA MR RA B R
R IEE RS E ¢ Website and official WeChat THE DR SE 55 1 T A3

88

account of the Company
A w A B DR R

*  General meetings of
shareholders and other
shareholders’ meetings
PR K & BOFA R € o

* Investor meetings or plant
visits

HEE G HIME 28
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Regularly distribute information

through the websites of the HKEX

and the Company
BRSP4 vt e
&ill

Strive to improve internal
monitoring system and risk
management

i OB R R B R R A R R B
Exchange views with investors
through various communication
channels
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Stakeholder Participation (Continued) BEHESHE (8
Stakeholder Expectation and Requirement Communication Channel Management Response
FHE HEEER BERE EREEE
Suppliers e (Constant demand o Business visit o Ensure performance of contractual
e TKTRE B FE Rl obligations
* Good relationship with the ¢  Contact via email, phone and ~ FERETAKEIT

Company communication applications e
BN A (R R B IR WRTE T I - B RO
e Corporate reputation e 4%
PEFE *  Promotions .
¢ Working together to combat E
COVID-19

LR #1201 97N

Communities e Environmental protection o Release of the Company's o
HE BRIk information through its
e Reduction of greenhouse website, official WeChat
gas and waste emission and account and the government’s
generation information disclosure website
BOMERREEEOSR  GAAREE - BTG
Bl A BBURER 5 B A7 48 v 8 Hf
o Efficient use of resources ARHE
AHOnA I E IR * Participation in community e
e Community participation activities
R ZHEMEES
e Economic development and .

community employment
PR BRAL I 3
e Working together to combat .
COVID-19
SE[R #5120 195 F

Develop supply chain management
policies and procedures

1l b HE B 3 1) BOR R
Establish and maintain long-term
cooperative relationship with quality
suppliers

LR e A R AR FFR I B 1F
BR

Rigorously select suppliers

e A L E

Take effective measures to prevent
and control COVID-19

FREUA B R By R 1

Pay attention to climate change
and actively carry out all kinds of
cleaner production measures

TR S 5 . o R i B A5 A
B E

Continue to invest resources in
environmental protection

SE S SN YN TN ¢
Actively innovate environmental
protection technology

R AR R REC T

Strengthen management of energy
saving and emission reduction

i i 5 S A PR

Encourage employees to participate
in charity activities and volunteer
service

SUB) B T2 HZE B MK TR
Maintain sound financial
performance and business growth
HEFFRA B BRI R

Set up an epidemic prevention and
control team and formulate a code
of practice to prevent the further
spread of COVID-19

RSP T Bl /N AL i AR SF
s DAB 1201 9 IR A i — 20
i
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Materiality Assessment

During the Reporting Period, the Group held discussions with
management and conducted materiality assessment through
various channels to identify the environmental, social and
governance projects of interest to key stakeholders and the
Group, and then assessed the importance attached by each side
to each project to select the ESG topics that are relatively material.
For materiality assessment, the Group has adopted the following

three processes:

B2 TUIRAE BN

Identify

it 1
+ Be aware of emerging ESG topics

PERGHT PN ESG e

for such issues
Set priorities
Al LR )T

stakeholders

B EE)

disclosure in the ESG Report

~

i |
4
et

BEME
A I > A I ST TR AT iy BB

AR RE - ETEEIERG > S EE R
Py 3 BELAS S 1 P B o O BRIE ~ A8 SERIE

AP DT A TH H AL (e
SR A AESGREE o BN HE MR
fili > AREEC R =5k

+ Through multiple channels and internal discussions

+ Review and adopt ESG topics that have been of concern to previous stakeholders in their participation

AR B AR AR LR 0335 2 BT B R BT I T Y ES Gl

- Synthesize, analyze and assess views to identify potential material issues and set priorities

BRI > DABRTEAE A S A SR RT S SRR

- Prepare a materiality matrix according to the materiality of the issues to the Group and its key

ARl S A 4 [ e = AR 073 2 V) R S 3 A R e

+ Interact with the management team to verify the materiality assessment result and ensure
that the issues are aligned with the sustainable development direction the Group seeks
ARt T T A A0 R TR U i B A A 1 5 14 T Rp AR O 1) — 3L

+ Report the required materiality assessment result to the Board of Directors and make the required

A1 Hh T 0 T B A A 2R ) MR - IR S G 5 38 o A e T £ 4 %
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Materiality Matrix

Materiality assessment helps the Group to ensure that its business
development meets stakeholders’ expectations and requirements.
The concerns of the Group and stakeholders are set out in the

materiality matrix below:

Materiality to the stakeholders

ESER I UG Y

Medium
th

Low
%

Anti-discrimination

BB

Assurance of human rights

(N

Social participation
A €r 22 B

BH Z oS

Measures to prevent child
labor and forced labor
TE R B T 5% B il

2 TR

Low

i

RiE -

- HERERHRE

EEMEEE

A

Materiality Matrix
S e

e Talent management
AAE B

e Employee training and
promotion
B T3 BTt

e Employee compensation
and benefits
B TR B AR A

e Anti-corruption
RETE

e Greenhouse gas emission
1 = SR PRk

e Energy use

RER {3

e Water resource use
KB PR

e Discharge of harmless
waste

I BRI PRk

Medium
v

Materiality to the Group

S A 45 1 ) B B

B A A B AR AR R S5 R R A T
AR B B B BRI AN R
I I B S TE R B SRS AT 1) A ]

Customer satisfaction

B ISR

Product quality and safety
JEE i B R B 2
Supplier management
L e A

Epidemic prevention

B SEHLE
Occupational health and
safety

i S f e B 22 2
Epidemic prevention

Bl S Hi

Clean production and
green products

BV A B AR A
Epidemic prevention

Bl BEHLHE

Operational compliance
BEGH

Protection of customer
privacy

PR AR

Exhaust emission

JEER PR

Wastewater discharge

JEEK PRk

Raw material use
JERERHE
Discharge of harmful waste

A E PR

High

]
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Environmental Protection

We believe that the Group plays an important role in protecting
the environment. We are committed to conducting our business
in an environmentally responsible manner, protecting the
environment and promoting sustainable development. We believe
that successful environmental management is essential for us to
meet our customers’ environmental requirements and to ensure
sound growth and sustainable development of our business.
Therefore, we set and review our environmental goals from time
to time with a view to minimizing our environmental footprint and
seeking continuous improvement. All environmental management
policies are formulated in accordance with local regulations and
environmental standards.

Management of Emissions
During the reporting year, the Group was not aware of any
breaches of environmental laws and regulations. The Group has
established a solid foundation for green management through a
series of environmental policies and measures, which are regularly
monitored and assessed, including:

~

RIRRE

AVE > AR A PR ER I vl 2 T A
o BAMBITH DL BRI H R 75 2B R
B5 o PREEBRIE KB A R B o AR
Ry o B BRI B AT L A P A BR AR
ZOR R RIERS TR = S nl R A B T
EREE o B > RAAREHIE B aT R R
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AEE o P A BB BB T AR AR
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Civil Engineering and Construction Business in
Hong Kong

Green Management

Environmental responsibility is an integral part of our construction
and operation. We comply with relevant local laws and regulations
to ensure that we manage the environmental impacts of our
operations in a proper and responsible manner. Relevant laws and
regulations include:

° Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311)

° Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354)

e Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358)

o Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400)

o Dumping at Sea Ordinance (Cap. 466)

o Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance (Cap. 499)

In addition, we continue to focus on sustainable construction
principles and have a strong track record in implementing green
building projects. We have obtained 1SO14001:2015 certification
for our environmental management system. Under its rigorous
framework, we take a systematic approach to managing our
resource use efficiency and emission control to drive continuous
upgrading. We attach particular importance to the assessment of
our environmental data (such as energy and material use, carbon
emission, water consumption and waste generation).

., ;
1E@|ronmental, Social and Governance Report
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Civil Engineering and Construction Business in
Hong Kong (Continued)

Management of Harmless Solid Waste and Wastewater
In the construction business, the Group continues to carry out a
number of measures to save resources, including:

Alteration and modification of construction machinery to suit
different construction sites;

Compliance with the “Code of Practice for Energy Efficiency
of Building Services Installation (2012) “and its subsequent
revisions relating to lighting, air-conditioning, electricity and
lift installations;

Reuse of used wood and materials such as metal parts,
plastics and paper packaging on construction sites; and

Reuse of treated construction wastewater as much as
possible, such as for sprinkler of dust-proof purposes and
wheel cleaning.

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated about
22,827.18 t of harmless solid waste, an increase of about 5,515.18
t or 31.86% over the previous year, mainly due to increased
production in Civil Engineering and Construction Business.

94
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Civil Engineering and Construction Business in
Hong Kong (Continued)

Management of Harmless Solid Waste and Wastewater
(Continued)

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s harmless solid waste is
as follows:

~/ B¥ivironmental, Social and Governance Report

RR - HERERBH

ERIARIEREBEREY @
BEERBEYREBEKNEE &

PSR IR A S B L 1
Tk

Harmless solid waste 2021 2020
EEEREY 20214 2020%4F
(t) (1)
(mg) (M)
Total e 22,827.18 17,312.00
Density’ R 68.76 54.61
Note: B 5E
1 Emission density is calculated based on the number of employees. 1 PR B LB T ASG -

2 The figures for 2021 do not cover carbon neutral related business
in Mainland China.

3 The figures for 2020 do not cover the sold automotive engine
business.

2 20214 B 1) B0 AN AL 355 A6 FP 1 1A0 Hb 1 ik R
FIARBHZER -

3 20204FBE MBI A BAE O IR SR K
HIZEFs

Annual Report 2021 & 44 95



Enwronmental Soaal and Governance Report

RE  HERERHRE

Civil Engineering and Construction Business in
Hong Kong (Continued)

Management of Construction Waste

For management of construction waste, we are committed to
preventing pollution and mitigating potential environmental
impact arising from our projects and operations. The Group did
not generate any harmful waste during the entire financial year.
Management of construction waste refers to management of the
possible environmental impact of waste generated in the course of
its operation, such as site clearing, excavation works, construction
and fit-out works. We aim to promote the 3R policy (reduce,
reuse and recycle) and to prevent construction waste from being
dumped in landfills, and to mitigate environmental impact through
proper waste management strategies and by prioritizing waste
avoidance and reduction, materials reuse, recovery and recycle.
Waste disposal is only a last resort. Specific measures include:

o Developing appropriate work plans and site management
measures to prevent over-ordering of materials and cross-
contamination of reusable and recyclable materials to
minimize waste;

o Minimizing, transporting and discarding all construction
waste that cannot be reused or recycled in an environmentally
friendly manner and in full compliance with statutory
requirements;
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Civil Engineering and Construction Business in
Hong Kong (Continued)
Management of Construction Waste (Continued)

Monitoring performance of subcontractors to ensure
compliance with environmental requirements;

Carry outing waste collection and disposal by classifying
waste into inert, non-inert and chemical waste;

Disposing of inert construction waste such as mud and rocks
at public landfills for reuse; leaving non-inert waste for reuse
and recycle by qualified waste collectors;

Using general purpose discarded container for the disposal
of controlled waste (i.e. harmless industrial or special waste)
and placing the container in construction area;

Posting a notice indicating clearly whether materials can be
discarded in general purpose trash receptacle; and

Inspecting the materials discarded in trash receptacle and
other containers during routine safety and environmental
inspections.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
serious breach of the laws and regulations relating to gas and
greenhouse gas emission, discharging pollution to water and land,
and generation of harmful or harmless waste which would have a
material impact on the Group.
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Civil Engineering and Construction Business in
Hong Kong (Continued)

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction

The Group is committed to conducting its business in an
environmentally responsible manner and reducing its adverse
impact on the environment. To reduce our environmental footprint
on the workplace, we are always looking for opportunities to
reduce non-essential energy consumption and waste emission.

Green Office Policy

Electricity is the main source of energy for our office in our daily
operations. Other resources such as drinking water, paper and
printing ink are also consumed. As part of our environmental
policy, we have developed the 3R policy — reduce,
recycle — to minimize the use of precious resources and tackle

reuse and

waste. The Group has implemented various measures to achieve
low-carbon green office, including:

o Turning off the air conditioning system when not in use;

o Strictly controlling the starting temperature of the air

conditioner, and under general conditions, keeping the

temperature of the air conditioner at the standard 25.5C;
o Purchasing energy saving appliances;
o Replacing old tubes with energy-efficient LED lamps;

o Arranging lighting areas and ensuring that lights are on only
where they are needed; and

o Turning off electrical appliances when no one is around to
reduce energy consumption of office equipment such as
computers in standby state.
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Civil Engineering and Construction Business in
Hong Kong (Continued)

Business Travel Savings Policy

The Group deeply understands that business travel will increase
energy consumption and lead to increased greenhouse gas
emission. Therefore, we actively reduce employee travel to reduce
the greenhouse gas emission caused by business travel, and
encourage employees to adopt green communication methods,
such as video and telephone conference instead of long-distance
face-to-face meetings, in an effort to reduce greenhouse gas
emission caused by additional travel. In addition, employees are
encouraged to use public transportation when they are on duty
and to plan their attendance schedule and deploy manpower in
advance so that participants can share vehicles to reduce energy

consumption and pollution during travel.

Noise Control Management

Noise is one of the key environmental aspects of the Group’s
construction business operations. We regularly monitor noise
levels at our construction sites to see if they comply with the
relevant requirements and provisions of the Construction Noise
Permit. During the reporting year, all site monitoring results did
not exceed the noise limits set in the Construction Noise Permit.
Noise caused by the operation of machinery and equipment
during construction may affect people in the vicinity. In managing
the impact of construction noise on the surrounding environment,
we strictly comply with the relevant laws and regulations as well
as the Noise Control Ordinance and its noise control guidelines for
subcontractors and employees to reduce the noise generated by
construction and control the noise range.

RE S HERERRE

BRIARIERBERHE @

PR EREFABUR
ZIK%@YR@JIEEEW%EH%@iﬂDA“WY%ﬁ g
O R PER R - SO B
ﬁ%m%ﬁu%ﬁlﬁ%mﬁﬁﬂ’uﬁ%ﬁ%%
o S B TR Ak s Tk > ikl
BE SRR G R RURIE B S R &k - 2
T30 th RSN A SR PR o it
Sh > BTHEIRERMEAANZETH
1M EL RS B TR B AT T
Be > DAGEZ2 P dd g A\ B LR [A] —Hill > R
HAT AR PR BETRIH FEA 5 G

R EGEE
Mof R A B [ SR TR S T i B R
R 2 — o FAM E S A A 2R TR
WRE KT - R A A A B SRR R AT
IR MHE o IRAHEFE » & H i
114 S5 T 245 R 0 A R R 3 S T R R
AR BRLBEZK P o AT A > B S S
AR A Bt R AR e AR i M > AT RE e
?ﬁ%&ﬁiﬁﬂ’])\i T B g SR st 5 38 ) (A B
FOSZ IS > FRAM A ST A BRVE TR Mk A
U\Zﬁ QU A A A1) B RG220 6. 78 B A B
FE A HIAE g1 o DA it 2 A Y R
Peetil S58 7 5 e

Annual Report 2021 =&~ —4F4FE#H 99



Enwronmental Soaal and Governance Report

RE  HERERHRE

Civil Engineering and Construction Business in
Hong Kong (Continued)
Noise Control Management (Continued)

o Monitor noise intensity regularly and obtain a valid
Construction Noise Permit (CNP) prior to the commencement
of construction works, especially those involving night
construction or percussive piling, so as to ensure compliance

with the Noise Control Ordinance.

o Carefully plan and improve the construction process to

reduce unnecessary knocking and cutting.

o To reduce noise levels to acceptable levels, we minimize the
number and type of equipment used, and where applicable,
we apply for noise labels for air compressors and hand-held

impact breakers in accordance with legal requirements.

o While complying with the permit requirements, we will
install noise barriers where necessary to reduce the impact
of construction noise on the nearby noise sensitive areas.

o Inspect and maintain all equipment to meet acceptable noise

levels.
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Civil Engineering and Construction Business in
Hong Kong (Continued)

Management of Resource Use

Resource Saving

The Group is well aware of the earth’s limited natural resources.
As a result, we have not only implemented various measures to
manage resource consumption and reduce waste emission, but also
implemented various other policies to manage the environmental
and natural resource impacts of our business operations. Paper is
one of the natural resources consumed by the Group in the course
of its daily business. In order to reduce environmental impact and
improve printing efficiency and minimize paper consumption, the
Group focuses on developing recycling measures and requires
all employees to minimize the use of office resources such as
water, paper and printers, and store drawings and product data
electronically for easy data searching, management and sharing.

Gasoline and Diesel Saving

Gasoline and diesel are mainly used in the Group’s official vehicles.
The Group formulates vehicle management measures to manage
the daily use of vehicles, and requires all vehicle use departments
to fill in the “Vehicle Request Form” and obtain approval before
using the Company’s official vehicles. If the destination is a
convenient location, employees must give priority to taking public
transportation. In addition, drivers must plan their driving routes
in advance to reach their destinations by the shortest and fastest
route so as to reduce the distance travelled by vehicles and thus
reduce exhaust emission.

During the Reporting Period, the Group used a total of about
313,759.80 t of gasoline and diesel,
82,521.80 t or 35.69% over the previous year, mainly due to
increased production in Civil Engineering and Construction

an increase of about

Business.
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Civil Engineering and Construction Business in EAITARIBREBEER (@)
Hong Kong (Continued)
Management of Resource Use (Continued) ERFERANERE (&)
Gasoline and Diesel Saving (Continued) B F B RYH (1B)
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s direct use of energy and R AR - A48 [ B 95046 ) TR A2 P s A=
the greenhouse gas emission from Range 1 are as follows: T — B E PRSI S %
2021 2020
20215 20204
Carbon Carbon
dioxide dioxide
equivalence equivalence
Consumption Emission Consumption Emission
—EtREE ZHRALIRE &
ERE B E A= Pt
(t) (t)
(M) ()
Gasoline TR 94,820.802 F 256.76 61,883.00FF 167.57
94,820.80 L 61,883.00 L
Diesel Sei 218,939.002 # 586.78  169,355.00AF 456.03
218,939.00 L 169,355.00 L
Total business emission EG P& 843.54 623.60
Business emission density'  FEH5 PE iR % 2.54 1.97
Note: [ffzE -

1 Emission density is calculated based on the number of employees. 1 PE R LB TAMGEH -

2 The figures for 2021 do not cover carbon neutral related business 2 20271 4F 5 A SR A 645 75 H 12 7y b 1 sk o
in Mainland China. FAHBHZERS -

3 The figures for 2020 do not cover the sold automotive engine 3 20204 BEIBHRA BT th & ITH BB B
business. (UES 7N
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Civil Engineering and Construction Business in
Hong Kong (Continued)

Management of Resource Use (Continued)

Electricity Saving

In order to implement the Group’s environmental protection policy,

UL ]

the Group has established water and electricity use management
procedures, which strictly requires all departments to efficiently
use and save energy. The Group’s Administration and Human
Resources Department is responsible for implementing trainings
of water and electricity saving measures, and arranging pre-
employment training for new employees, including environmental
protection facilities and equipment operation procedures, so as
to ensure that each new employee has sufficient knowledge and
a way to eliminate incorrect use of equipment, thereby reducing
unnecessary energy consumption.

During the Reporting Period, the Group used a total of about
89,061.70 MWh of electricity, an increase of about 39,382.90
MWh or 79.28% over the previous year, mainly due to increased
production in Civil Engineering and Construction Business.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s indirect use of energy

/’E@lronmental Social and Governance Report

RE S HERERRE

ERIARIEREBEREY @

ERFEANEE &

BHXHE

BT BRI AL W R T B > A
EEA K - B TEHET  BEESRETS
A A S i A AR o AR 1B 2 AT &
NGRS AT A T K e B 4 Ak
BRIEEIN > 2P AR B TRYBRETRES
AL TE IR PR A AR AR > DARREAR
BT AR B T B R 40 R0 G T BR RS IE e
o R i > A8 IR S 2 B FERE B

o

PHEMA S AEBEEMERE N
89,061.70 Jk I Wy » #¢ b 4F B 3% Jn 4
39,382.90JK FLIFEL79.28% » FE &t +
R AR B gt 65 A e 3 o

TSR A o A I TR 42 {6 P A R B T E A

and the greenhouse gas emission from Range 2 are as follows: i R R PSR &R
2021 2020
20214 20204
Carbon Carbon
dioxide dioxide
equivalence equivalence
Consumption Emission Consumption Emission
—EtREE ZRALIRE &
ERE B E A= Pt
(MWh) (t) (MWh) (t)
(J& FL ) (W) (JK FL 1) (1)
Electricity BN 89,061.70 56.12 49,678.80 28.20
Total business emission ¥EH P E 56.12 28.20
Business emission density'  FE15 PE R % 0.17 0.09
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Civil Engineering and Construction Business in
Hong Kong (Continued)
Management of Resource Use (Continued)

Electricity Saving (Continued)
Note:

1 Emission density is calculated based on the number of employees.

2 The figures for 2021 do not cover carbon neutral related business
in Mainland China.

3 The figures for 2020 do not cover the sold automotive engine
business.

Water Saving

The Group mainly uses water supplied by the government. During
the Reporting Period, the Group did not encounter any water
resource use problems. The Group has always attached importance
to the use of water resources and implemented different measures,
hoping that each employee can fully use water resources and
reduce waste.

During the Reporting Period, the Group used about 492.75 m3
of water representing an increase of 100% over the previous
year, mainly due to increased production in Civil Engineering and
Construction Business.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s water use is as follows:

~

BREIAIRREBERE (@)

ERFEANERE (@
B#HHE (1B

B 5

1 PR % % LB TG o

2 2021 4F JI 19 B00E R B 45 e A ) D b 1 B
FAHBE2ER -

3 20204F B M 95 A5 B B R Es d ik
2R -

BRI F K

AR T 3 A UM OB K U o TR R
> A 2 1) 7 208 98 B AT 4o i 1 7K U Y
FE o AR AR R — B EAR KB IR A 6 B A
[l i1 > A BB A0 B T30 i 7K R B
WA -

RS HAA > AR 7K #9492 7557 75K
5 EAEEFIN100% » FERAN AR
Foih e A BN -

R HIAL > ASSE KRS DL 3%

Water resource 2021 2020
KER 20214 20204
(m?) (m?)
(375 3K) (705 K)
Total FisS = 492.75 =
Density’ L 0.05 -
Note: 5T -
1 Emission density is calculated based on the number of employees. 1 Prf % B LB TG -

2 The figures for 2021 do not cover carbon neutral related business
in Mainland China.

3 The figures for 2020 do not cover the sold automotive engine
business.

2 2021 4F JI 19 BC0E R B 45 e A ) O b 1 B
FAHBE2ER -

3 20204F B M B9 AN 4G B B R Es d i
W 2R -
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Civil Engineering and Construction Business in
Hong Kong (Continued)

Management of Resource Use (Continued)

Paper Saving

The Group actively promotes “Paperless Office”, encourages
employees to transfer information and documents in the form
of electronic files to reduce photocopying and printing, and
encourages employees to set the printers to double-sided printing
mode, check document formats before copying or printing, use
both sides of paper as much as possible, recycle single-sided
printed paper, and put waste paper used on both sides into
recycled paper collection boxes for disposal by qualified recyclers.

UL ]

During the Reporting Period, the Group used about 8.08 t of
paper, an increase of about 6.83 t or 546.40% over the previous
year, mainly due to increased production in Civil Engineering and
Construction Business.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s paper use is as follows:

/’E@lronmental Social and Governance Report

RE S HERERRE

ERIARIEREBEREY @
BEREANEE @

BRI AL
AR P RR G A B AR RN E ] S A T
A FA% S U AR B S > D R ED

LB EN >I5ﬁf£ﬁﬁlﬂ%ﬂ5ﬂ% BCE S BT
B > R ENES ENHAR & SCFAE X > 3
R AR A AT > ER E F BELW 5 BN A AR
5 o SO HF TR 8 P A0 ) R AR T2 A
WA > B E MR R R B

RS IAA - A FHACAS.08M > HiF A4
PN 46.83ME B 546.40% > FEEHN T
AR R i e R L E B -

RN > AREE RO &

Paper resource 2021 2020
HEIR 20214 20204
(t) (t)
(mg) (M)
Total Fish = 8.08 1.25
Density’ I 0.024 0.004
Note: Ui
1 Emission density is calculated based on the number of employees. 1 PRl B LB TAHGIAE -

2 The figures for 2021 do not cover carbon neutral related business
in Mainland China.

3 The figures for 2020 do not cover the sold automotive engine
business.

2 20214 5 1) B A B0 5 78 AP B A 1l 7 5 R
FIAHBE2ER -

3 20204F B I BB AN A B B IR R EE E i
B ZEHS -
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Environment and Natural Resources

The Group recognizes its responsibility to protect the environment
and save resources. We have implemented a range of policies
and procedures, including environmental management policies
and waste management guidelines. The Group is committed
to reducing resource and energy consumption in compliance
with all applicable environmental laws and regulations. We
have implemented the concepts of green operation, resource
saving, low carbon emission and environmental protection to
guide our daily operations and site management. We have also
communicated such innovative environmental concepts to our
customers, suppliers and subcontractors to jointly protect the

natural resources.

Climate Change

Climate change makes extreme weather events more frequent and
severe, often causing catastrophic damage. Climate change is also
altering seasonal and annual patterns of temperature, precipitation
and other weather phenomena. As the unprecedented COVID-19
crisis is posing major challenges across the globe, the risk of
climate change still looms large. By understanding how such
trends relate to our business, we can prepare and analyze the
risks and opportunities that may arise, and seize the potential
benefits of opportunities and build the Group’s response capacity
in the long run.
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Climate Change (Continued)

In response to climate change, the Group is committed to reducing
carbon emission and waste generation in each site and office. The
Group works at source to reduce the consumption of electricity,
paper and fuel for corporate vehicles, strengthens the
concept of energy saving and efficiency improvement through
daily management, education and publicity in accordance with
the principles of reduce, reuse, replace, repair and rethink, actively
adopts measures that are technically feasible and economically
sound to reduce carbon emission and waste generation in each
site and office while reducing operating costs, and actively explores
new models of low-carbon development. At the same time, the
Group sets scientific, reasonable and realistic goals, indicating that
we have planned our greenhouse gas emission reduction path
with direction and purpose, and have prepared for climate change
regulatory policies at the national level in advance. In addition,
the Group’s ESG goals provide a baseline and future direction for
annual review of greenhouse gas emission reduction and energy
transition progress, as well as incentives for more efficient action
on climate change.

water,

RIE -HEREARRE
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Make coordinated
efforts to reduce
pollution and carbon
emissions
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AL B
AUFE

Optimize and adjust
the energy Structure

Uphold the concept of
innovative,
coordinated, green,
open and shared
development

benefits in a

BB R R 2 Wil

Promote environmental
benefits, climate
benefits and economic

coordinated manner
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Employment and Labor Practices

The Group seeks and welcomes talented and enthusiastic people.
Regardless of the number of employees, we are committed to
a non-discriminatory, diverse, fair and harmonious working
environment.

Employment

The Group strictly complies with all applicable rules and regulations
of the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Employment Ordinance of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region. We treat all applicants the same, do not have unequal
restrictions or preferential policies, and provide equal opportunities
for applicants to compete. In addition, our recruitment is open
and transparent, and we accept any supervision and will not allow
rigged operations. We also abide by the Labor Law and will not
employ child labor.

1. Recruitment, promotion, dismissal, equal opportunity,
diversity and anti-discrimination
We provide open and equal opportunities for all in the
recruitment of employees, and select people on the basis of
skills and abilities without distinction on the basis of sex, race,
religion, age or disability. We use appropriate assessment tool
to identify potential new employees and regularly review our
recruitment mechanism to ensure that recruitment criteria
are up to date with our requirements. The Group will also
consider internal promotion and job rotation to ensure equal
opportunities for existing employees. The Group considers
the employment, salary, benefits, incentives, promotion and
dismissal of employees solely on the basis of their education
level, professional qualification and working ability, and
provides equal treatment to male and female. We always
strictly comply with all applicable local anti-discrimination
rules and regulations.
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Employment and Labor Practices (Continued)
Employment (Continued)

1.

Recruitment, promotion, dismissal, equal opportunity,
diversity and anti-discrimination (Continued)

At the end of the Reporting Period,

the number and

RE  HERE

BRERETIER @
&R (&)

1. BB EH HE FEHE 27T

1t~ RUEH (&)

R - AEE R B B

distribution of the Group’s employees are as follows: MG I AT 2%
31/12/2021 31/12/2020

Sex 4 51
Male Bk 249 257
Female Lt 83 60
Employment category EREER
Regular employee 1EXE B 314 316
Contract/non-regular employee %),/ EXEE 18 1
Age group FHE R
18 — 30 18 — 30 41 19
31 -50 31 -50 120 127
>50 >50 171 171
Region &
Hong Kong s 299 317
Mainland China r (B 1A 3 33 =
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Employment and Labor Practices (Continued) EERZEITER @&

Employment (Continued) &% (&)

1. Recruitment, promotion, dismissal, equal opportunity, 1. - &EH - fBE - FEHS - £
diversity and anti-discrimination (Continued) 1t~ REER (B)
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s average monthly IRAEIA - AL BTV IE AR
employee turnover rate is as follows: RFEMTE

2021 2020

Sex 14 5l
Male Bk 32.13% 24.90%
Female Egca 24.10% 26.70%
Age group Fir4a B
18 — 30 18 — 30 12.20% 68.42%
31 -50 31 -50 48.33% 26.77%
>50 >50 21.64% 19.30%
Region =
Hong Kong s 33.44% 25.24%
Chinese mainland H [ (A i - =

Remuneration, Welfare and Other Benefits - EAREMEE

Employee remuneration is determined based on the market level B THMEZ Bl 5/K-FLU K& THEES -
and employee competence, qualification and experience. The —HEKAERTNA & - ALHC #E L2 WH
Group has established a comprehensive performance appraisal — Zs(FEEHEH - LA BIAT-HIFE B T 45
mechanism to evaluate the performance of its employees in an % o A<4E [ 1) {& & £ A5 55 5% 77 A4 57 i 4 1)
open and fair manner. The Group offers competitive remuneration, ¢ » AR E TH% ST o

welfare and benefits to its employees in return for their efforts.
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Employment and Labor Practices (Continued)
Working Hours and Leave

The Group regards its employees as its most important core assets,
and pays more attention to the balance between employees’ work
and life in addition to managing and caring for the needs of its
staff. The relaxation of employees’ lives also contributes to the
overall efficiency of the Group. Therefore, the Group must comply
with the local laws and regulations to guarantee the working
hours and leave days of employees. In addition, to strengthen
employees’ sense of belonging to the Group and create a united
and harmonious working atmosphere, the Group adopts the
following series of work-life balance policies: comply with the
relevant laws and policies of Chinese mainland and Hong Kong,
and ensure staff rest and leave; take the creation of a united and
harmonious working atmosphere and a warm and comfortable
working environment as the purpose; care for employees’ health
and families.

Impact of COVID-19

The Group did not reduce benefits or lay off due to COVID-19
in 2021. For the sake of employees’ health and life safety, the
Group has formulated emergency plans for epidemic prevention
and taken a number of measures. Please refer to “Health and
Safety” below for details.
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Employment and Labor Practices (Continued)
Health and Safety

Safety is at the top of everything we do. In order to achieve
the goal of zero injury, we place special emphasis on providing
a healthy and safe working environment for all employees. To
achieve the goal of zero injury, we are committed to integrating
health and safety considerations into all aspects of our business
activities. In the construction business operation, we have been
developing effective plans and measures to foster a safety culture
within the Group.

Safety Training

It is important for our employees and subcontractors to be alert
to potential hazards and to follow strict safety regulations during
construction at the site. Our occupational health and safety
management system is certified to ISO 45001:2018 which is
aligned with international standard best practice. We work closely
with our subcontractors to ensure that all our subcontractors are
provided with comprehensive safety training at different stages of
the project.

Safety Risk Management

In addition to daily health and safety concerns, we must be
prepared for the unexpected. To enhance the emergency
preparedness and response capabilities of our employees, all our
operating companies are required to conduct regular emergency
drills and safety exercises in accordance with applicable national
laws and regulations and emergency response plans.
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Employment and Labor Practices (Continued)

Safe Working Environment

We continue to enhance employee awareness of occupational
health and safety through training and publicity activities and
recognize employees who demonstrate good performance in
safety and health, so as to promote a culture of safety on all
construction sites.

The ability to identify risks is essential to ensuring a healthy and
safe working environment. Safety officers at each site will closely
monitor safety related issues and implement effective measures.
We provide appropriate training to our site staff and workers
to ensure that they are competent to perform their duties and
responsibilities and to use personal protective equipment properly.
We also encourage site staff and workers to report risks through
various channels, such as informing their safety officers/site
managers and attending safety meetings.

In addition, safety officers conduct regular safety inspections

to identify potential safety risks and recommend relevant
control measures. Safety Officers also carry out safety incident
investigation, emergency preparedness and risk assessment to
minimize and manage any potential occupational health and

safety hazards.
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Employment and Labor Practices (Continued)
Occupational Health of Employees

We also believe that regular education and training play an
important role in raising and maintaining the occupational health
and safety awareness of our employees at all times. We cover
the topics of safe use of equipment, accident prevention and
handling, emergency management and rescue, production safety
and relevant laws and regulations, fire knowledge, etc.

If any safety incident occurs during work, our employees are
required to report and investigate the incident in accordance with
our policy. All employees are required to report to their supervisors
any incidents during work so that appropriate protection measures
can be implemented in time.

During the Reporting Period, the number of working days lost by
the Group's employees due to work-related injury is as follows:

~

BRERZEIER &

ETHRRERE

WM IRARLE - EAEMTIRE AR > B BE s
AIE 2 o SAERF B B TR S B I % &
LR AAEEEN - RMMELEME
PR~ TG Mg B Ah - RS R
B~ EERE RAREIER RIER - B
HEHE -

fild TARSA I AR AT AT 2 2 il - BBV IR B
TR PR S ] BUR 0l Mo A il - 2
AR 58 0 ZE A AT 03 [ ) A e A 1] HC B it
o DUE RIVEF B b0 o (R A F I

ARSI AR B TN THHEAT/ER
BT

20215 20204

Number of working days lost due to work-related injury X T/485% T/F A #{ 1,149 2,023

In the past three years (including the Reporting Period), no
employee of the Group has died at work.
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Employment and Labor Practices (Continued)
Measures to Combat COVID-19

In order to control COVID-19 and protect stakeholder health,
the Group continuously reviewed and updated the preventive
measures taken at headquarters and construction sites during the
Reporting Period. Preventive measures implemented during the
Reporting Period include (among others):

o Strictly complying with epidemic prevention regulations in all
operations, such as social distancing policies at meetings;

e Attending virtual meetings rather than face-to-face meetings
possibly;

o Checking and recording temperature mandatorily at the
Group’s premises and entrance to construction sites;

o Mandatorily requiring all employees, workers and visitors to
wear masks within the Group’s premises and construction
sites;

o Requiring all employees and site workers to report whether
there have been any recent confirmed cases of COVID-19 in
their buildings;

o Providing disinfectant hand rub at the entrance to the
Group’s premises;

o Requiring employees and site workers to conduct regular
COVID-19 testing and report test results;

o Providing flexible working arrangements for employees of
the headquarters to alternate between home and office
work; and

o Suspending all indoor and most outdoor activities staff
participated.
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Employment and Labor Practices (Continued)
Development and Training

The Group believes that the competence of our employees is the
key to our sustainable development and revenue expansion. The
Group provides various types of training programs to its employees
regularly and on demand to enhance their skills and meet job
requirements. At the same time, the Group encourages employees
to actively participate in job-related training organized by external
organizations to enhance their professional quality and efficiency.
The expenses may be borne by the Group at the discretion of
senior management upon application.

The Group devotes resources to the development of employees
because we believe that enhancing their knowledge and skills
will add value to our business operations. The Human Resources
Department and the Operations officers organize training
programs for all employees. In addition to internal training, the
Group provides allowances and special leave to employees who
apply for postgraduate training schemes and other continuing
professional development courses.

During the Reporting Period, the percentage of the Group’s
employees under training is as follows:
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2021 2020
Sex 4 5l
Male F 87.95% 91.44%
Female Lk 87.95% 95.00%
Rank group BB 4% 48 Bl
Senior management o AR P 73.33% 50.00%
Middle management Hh AR T 82.76% 100.00%
Grassroots employees AT 89.24% 92.23%
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Employment and Labor Practices (Continued)
Development and Training (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, the average number of training
hours 1 of the Group’s employees is as follows:
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2021 2020
Sex 3]
Male Bk 6.49 5.51
Female Lk 1.94 1.67
Rank group B A% 4 B
Senior management 1 A L 4.65 12.63
Middle management ke e 2.44 3.91
Grassroots employees H g 5 T 5.68 4.73
Note: R3E -
1 Average number of training hours refers to the total number of 1 ST 127 52 A IRy BOR 48 A B2 B e A TN 2

hours of training provided to executive directors and employees by
the Group during the Reporting Period divided by the total number
of employees at the end of the year

Labor Standards

The Group will comply with the Sex Discrimination Ordinance
(Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Disability Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 487 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Family
Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant legislation in making all
decisions relating to recruitment, dismissal, training, remuneration
and promotion. In addition, we will take disciplinary action in the
event of any breach of the code of conduct, including verbal or
written warning, demotion or dismissal.

The Group supports its human resources efforts with a
comprehensive human resources policy on recruitment, dismissal,
separation, leave and benefits. The Group strictly abides by the
labor laws and employment regulations of the People’s Republic
of China and the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, and
completely prohibits the employment of child labor and forced
labor.
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Employment and Labor Practices (Continued)
Child Labor Prevention Policy

The Group strictly abides by national laws and regulations and
prohibits the employment of any child labor. In order to effectively
prevent child labor, candidates must be at least 18 years old
in recruitment advertisements, and identity documents and
resumes of candidates will be carefully checked to verify their
age. In view of this, the Group will first check the documents
before interviewing applicants to verify their identity and prevent
child labor from borrowing others’ documents for employment.
Through the annual review and daily management of child labor,
the Group will terminate employment in real time if child labor
is found.

Forced Labor Prevention Policy

The Group strictly abides by national laws and regulations, prohibits
all forms of forced labor, and strictly implements the following
measures: signing labor contracts or internship agreements with
all employees on an equal and voluntary basis; never detaining
employees’ ID cards, temporary residence permits and other
personal identification documents; strictly prohibiting any
department or anyone to physically punish, beat, search and insult
employees, and to lock up the workplace and dormitory to restrict
personal freedom of employees; prohibiting any department or
anyone to force employees to work by means of violence, threat
or illegal restriction of personal freedom. The Group requires that
overtime work be arranged in accordance with this principle to
prevent all involuntary overtime work. Whenever a breach of this
procedure is found, an immediate investigation must be initiated.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not involved
in confirmed violations of laws and regulations related to
employment, health and safety and labor standards that materially
affect the Group.
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Employment and Labor Practices (Continued)
Operating Practice

The Group regards the supply chain competitiveness as one of
the core competitiveness of enterprises. We adhere to the supply
chain management policy of paying equal attention to quality and
efficiency. The Group always adheres to the principle of integrity
first and conducts its business based on operating practice
complying with local laws and regulations.

Supply Chain Management
Our supply chain mainly covers office supply chain and construction
engineering subcontractors and suppliers.

The Group believes that the supply chain is critical to overall
sustainable development performance. We have adopted strict
supplier evaluation guidelines. We evaluate suppliers’ ability to
meet our business needs based on both price and non-price
factors (such as labor practice, environment and quality, etc.)

During the Reporting Period, the number and geographical
distribution of suppliers approved by the Group and major
suppliers doing business with the Group are as follows:
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Employment and Labor Practices (Continued)
Civil Engineering and Construction Supply Chain
In construction projects, we need to work with different
subcontractors and suppliers. Therefore, supply chain management
is essential for the Group to provide quality construction works. We
have mature selection and control procedures for subcontractors
and supplier partners. The Subcontractor and Supplier Selection
Policy sets out our procedures for selecting suppliers for projects
and provides for a careful evaluation of suppliers based on criteria
such as reputation, competence, quality of work, experience
and other relevant factors. During the project, we will continue
to monitor supplier performance and put in place adequate
controls to ensure that purchased products meet the project
specifications. We will assess the performance of our suppliers
annually to help determine whether they are eligible to remain on
our list of approved subcontractors and suppliers. We will provide
training to subcontractors and suppliers and take the “Supplier
Code of Conduct and Purchasing Policy” as guidelines, covering
environmental management policies and health and safety
requirements. We expect suppliers and subcontractors to comply
fully with our environmental, social and governance practices and
policies. We will conduct field visits to make sure they meet the
requirements.
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Employment and Labor Practices (Continued)
Encourage Good Labor Practice

We not only are committed to treating our own employees with
fairness and respect, but also require our subcontractors to follow
good labor practice. We expect subcontractors to operate with
integrity to the minimum extent, treat their employees fairly and
ensure compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. We
will hold regular meetings with our subcontractors to ensure that
they and their workers comply with our environmental policies.

Support Local Subcontractors

We choose to work with subcontractors in Hong Kong wherever
possible. Throughout 2021, all of our subcontractors are located in
Hong Kong. We believe this will contribute to the local economy.
We will also assess the feasibility of integrating more medium-
sized enterprises or even social enterprises into our supply chain
to facilitate the development of local enterprises.

., ;
1E@|ronmental, Social and Governance Report

RR - HERERBH

BRERZIESR @)
BRRFETIER

FRAM A LA B0 R A RE P 7 R
A B T - FAISBER TR 60 0 A
BLIFAY 55 TR L = FRAM M 2243 7 e (IR R
DA ~ A P 3 B T R e (R T
O R AL FRAPTN B> L BT
HEr BRI SO RS A 1 BB
¥ oo

BRI b ]

A AT RE R LA R A A o N
TR M BT A 2 L 2
A o WAMME - B AAMHEEHE
Rk o FRAM IR Al 5 2 v 2 B ity
A FAM PR SE T i T AT > DR A st 4
MR

Annual Report 2021 & ——4E4EH 121



Enwronmental Soaal and Governance Report

RE  HERERHRE

Product Quality and Liability

Product Liability

The Group is committed to meeting its product liabilities. Our
operation does not involve any product advertising or labeling.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to health and
safety, advertising and labeling of products and services provided
and remedies that would have a material impact on the Group.
Quality Management of Civil and
Construction Business in Hong Kong

We believe that our efforts to improve the quality of our
management and construction work will help maintain our overall
reputation. In pursuit of quality, we have implemented the quality
management system in accordance with the requirements of
ISO9001:2015.

Engineering

To ensure quality service to our customers, our project team
members have received adequate training in implementing quality
management measures (including monitoring, verifying and
certifying construction, installation and materials prior to delivery
of completed projects to customers). Our project team members
will also conduct regular inspections to ensure that the completed
works comply with the specifications and requirements set out in
the relevant contracts.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any
complaints about its products and services.
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Product Quality and Liability (Continued)
Confidentiality Policy

The Group recognizes the importance of protecting the personal
data of suppliers and customers at the same time. The Group
has developed strict personal data and privacy protection and
monitoring guidelines. Personal data of suppliers and customers
are treated as highly confidential and accessible only to authorized
personnel. We have organized internal training to ensure that
employees are fully aware of the policy and that the guidelines
are implemented smoothly. We are also committed to protecting
suppliers’ intellectual property rights and trademarks to support
their business interests and the maintenance of confidential
information.

Personal Privacy Policy

We also respect the data privacy of every employee. In accordance
with the Group’s privacy policy, all personal data collected from
current and former employees, including personal and family
information, salary and allowances, promotion evaluations, etc.,
will be handled in strict confidence by designated personnel.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
breaches of relevant laws and regulations relating to privacy
matters that would have a material impact on the Group.

Business Ethics

We are committed to maintaining the highest ethical standards in
the conduct of our business. We aim to safeguard fair competition
by prohibiting any anti-competitive behavior.
compliance with the Competition Ordinance (Cap. 619 of the Law
of Hong Kong), our employees must refrain from disclosing to
or exchanging with our competitors competitively sensitive data,
engaging in price-fixing, boycotting, or market fragmentation
arrangements, or imposing restrictions on customers, suppliers,

To ensure

or subcontractors.

During the Reporting Period,
compliance cases of anti-competition.

there were no reported non-
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Product Quality and Liability (Continued)
Anti-Corruption

The Group strictly complies with anti-corruption and anti-bribery
laws and regulations, such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), etc.

The Group is committed to providing quality service to its
customers and requires all employees to uphold the highest
standards of integrity, commitment and professionalism in the
performance of their duties. The Group has implemented an anti-
corruption policy to prevent, detect and report misconduct. We
provide “Employee Handbook” and “Staff Code of Discipline
and Ethics” for all employees as a guide to the conduct of our
employees, setting out the standards of conduct we expect each
employee to observe, such as those relating to accepting/offering
gifts or hospitality in soliciting business, conflicts of interest and
employment with outside organizations. All employees must
complete the professional ethics training before starting work.

The Group provides anti-corruption training for directors and
employees, and “Reporting Policy” for all employees to encourage
and provide reporting procedures and channels for employees to
raise and report serious and substantive anti-corruption issues
and any relevant queries. All reports will be treated confidentially
and with care. At the same time, the Group also welcomes
communication and consultation.

During the Reporting Period, the Group and its employees were

not involved in any cases of bribery or corruption as a result of
clear policies in place.
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Community Investment

Community

We are well aware of the importance of making a positive
contribution to the community in which the Group operates
and regard the interests of the community as one of our social
responsibilities. The Group supports a harmonious and sustainable
working environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group donated RMB One Million
only to China Eco Development Association. With the aim of
promoting harmonious development between man and nature,
the association is actively engaged in ecological construction,
land greening, desertification prevention and control, wildlife and
wetland protection throughout China.

During the Reporting Period, the Group donated HKD Five
Hundred Thousand to the China Eco Development Association for
the relief of the flood in Henan Province.

We always encourage employees to take an active part in charitable
activities. In the coming year, we plan to work with different
community groups to support and add value to the community.
We will also invest funds in the community where possible.
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Prospect

To meet the commitment of carbon neutrality against global
climate change, China, as the largest emitter of greenhouse gases
around the world, aims to have CO, emissions peak before 2030
and achieve carbon neutrality before 2060. Carbon neutrality
means that enterprises, organizations and individuals directly or
indirectly have total greenhouse gases emissions in operating or
production activities or daily life within a certain period of time,
however, through various means or projects such as afforestation,
energy conservation and emission reduction and others, so that
CO, emissions they generate are offset, and the objectives of
CO, zero emission are achieved. To combat climate change,
China has launched a national carbon emission trading market
which transforms the pollution into tradable quotas, promising to
substantially reduce CO, emissions within decades in the future.

By taking advantage of the global trend of combating climate
change through carbon neutrality and the Chinese government’s
strategy to carbon peaking by 2030 and carbon neutrality by 2060,
in consideration of limited results of promoting carbon neutrality
through energy conservation and emission reduction, the Group
actively engages in businesses relating to carbon neutrality around
the world, including development, management, investment and
trading of carbon assets (carbon credit and carbon emissions
rights), carbon neutrality consultancy, verification and planning
services based on carbon assets and carbon measurement, and
solutions to carbon negative. The Group is committed to achieving
carbon peaking and carbon neutrality, promoting green, low-
carbon and circular economic growth and embarking on a new
journey of global response to climate change.
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Summary of Environmental Data Presentation REHEBXRERE
2021 2020

Unit (v 20214 20204
Greenhouse gas emission ERBHHE
Range 1" gE—
Total M t L7 843.54 623.60
Density? LI t Mg 2.54 1.97
Range 2% HE—2
Total M t L) 56.12 28.20
Density? s t g 0.17 0.09
Total exhaust emission* BRAEHRE
Nitrogen oxide RAAH t M 1,979.51 1,764.91
Sulfur oxide th/ﬁﬂ:% t M 3.90 3.18
Particulate matter R t Mg 156.63 140.23
Harmless waste BEEEY
Solid waste generation: EREYELR
Total HE t L] 22,827.18 17,312.00
Density? s t L] 68.76 54.61
Energy and water consumption gERRKEREFEE
Electricity: Bh:
Total i MWh  JEFLIF 89,061.70 49,678.80
Density? e MWh  JEFLIRE 268.26 156.72
Diesel: By
Total M t g 218,939.00 169,355.00
Density? e t g 659.45 534.24
Gasoline: an::
Total M t g 94,820.80 61,883.00
Density? e t g 285.60 195.21
Water resource: KER :
Total 55y m3 LK 492.75 =
Density? o 3 m3 SR 0.05 =
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 HEREREWE

Summary of Environmental Data Presentation
(Continued)

Note:

1

128

Range 1 refers to greenhouse gas emission directly generated by the
Group's operations, including the burning of diesel and gasoline.

Range 2 refers to “Indirect Energy” greenhouse gas emission arising
from the consumption of purchased electricity by the Group's
operations.

The emission and consumption density are calculated based on the
number of employees.

Calculation of the Group’s vehicle fuel consumption in Hong Kong.

The figures for 2021 do not cover carbon neutral related business
in Mainland China.

The figures for 2020 do not cover the sold automotive engine
business.

4 ¢
~ e 2 B0

AR

BREHBERAHE @
itk -

T B R A G R R AR IR E R
PR > ELRARIR S S -

2 R R AR AR S A TS T R 1] S
EAN T ES GO RN e TR Ae=E aK: <2 0
3 PR RIEFER U A T AMEE -

4 ABEETEFERERERE FERT R -

5 202714 B RN LR AE A B A G B
AARBH2ETS -

6 20204F B B AN G B R EE i
MR -
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avironmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERERE

BITBXFAMGH RE - HERE
AWmERESD

Compliance with the Guidelines on
Environmental, Social and Governance Report
Issued by the HKEX

General Disclosure/

Key Performance

Indicators
-RHE/
BRENRE

A. Environment

ABE

Guidelines

FERol

Page

B8

Level A1 Emission
EEA 235 L]
General disclosure Exhaust and greenhouse gas emission, discharge to water and land, generation of harmful or harmless waste, etc.: 92-105
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer.
— MR FRBEARRE RN - kR AWM - HEREEREMNE LS :
() Bk &
(b) HFHENTAAERTEOMBERRAGNEH -
Key performance The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 94-97,
indicator A1.1 127-128
BIRGRIETALY  PERC RN BAR B et
Key performance Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity ~ 98-104,
indicator A1.2 (e.q. per unit of production volume, per facility). 127-128
RggasmALY  EH GEE) REERE EE2) RS ARAYME CIEE) & ER 5E MUSERRN - SHERNHE) -
Key performance Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per N/A
indicator A1.3 facility).
WA 3 FIEAAEREDAR CWEE) &k @R B8 MUSERRN - BEREHH) - S i
Key performance Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, ~ 94-95,
indicator A1.4 per facility). 127-128
RESEEA G FEEREREDAR OMGE Rk @R BE MgE SR - BHERIEHE -
Key performance Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 92-100
indicator A1.5
REEMEEAS BTSN ER RRAEREL AR RS -
Key performance Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and ~ 94-97,
indicator A1.6 steps taken to achieve them. 127-128

BB BR A6

I E R BNy o R S BB R A RS A AT RIS B
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RIE - HE8RE

Compliance with the Guidelines on

-

\Aiﬁﬂ:

BIBXFAAMGH RE - HERE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report BIREFE S EE)

Issued by the HKEX (Continued)

General Disclosure/

Key Performance

Indicators Guidelines Page
-REE/

BRENER R B

A. Environment

ABE

Level A2
EmA2

General disclosure
—ftiER
Key performance
indicator A2.1
&IV
Key performance
indicator A2.2
BB A2 2
Key performance
indicator A2.3
EECHIYE
Key performance
indicator A2.4
BB A2 4
Key performance
indicator A2.5
BIREIEEALS

Use of Resources

ERKER

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials. 101-104

FRBRER (@R - K RHEME R MR -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity 101-104,
(e.q. per unit of production volume, per facility). 127-128

HRRB M ERR,/ SRR WE - R AR CORIIGE) REE (AGERRN - SHEEHE) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). 103-104,

127-128

BIKEREE MLGEREN - BHERHEHE) -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 101-104

S B AT SR TR e F R R B BN S S BT R P B

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and 103-104
steps taken to achieve them.

KBBR8 L AT EA PR - DARBR T K6 B B S A B8 2 B AT R AP B

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced. N/A

ST TR PR R CINERE) R (@) R EEAGE i

130  China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited Bk = 0% Ji2 45 B 45 BR /A 7



Compliance with the Guidelines on

B HEREARS

E—rﬂﬁ*s&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ@“—’ CHERE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report BIREFESIHEE)

Issued by the HKEX (Continued)

General Disclosure/

Key Performance

Indicators Guidelines Page
-REE/

BRENER L B

A. Environment

ARE
Level A3

BHA3

General disclosure

— Mt R

Key performance
indicator A3.1

HRAIR A3

Level A4
EHEA4

General disclosure

— %

Key performance
indicator Ad.1

RS RIETALY

The Environment and Natural Resources

RERARER

Policies on minimising the issuer's significant impacts on the environment and natural resources. 105-106
WIRETT ABBRE R KRG N RPBIUR -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources and the actions taken to  105-106
manage them.

HHEE R K AGENE kY B R E RIS BA BB H -

Climate change

FRE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which 106-107
may impact, the issuer.

O B CL A BT R BT A B B KRR B S LA BOR -

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and ~ 106-107

the actions taken to manage them.

Ml C AR RGBT\ E A BN ERRGHEEE  REHTE -
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RIE  -HERE

Compliance with the Guidelines on

$ﬁ£l:

P FTEME (RIR - HERE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report B EIE S| (E)
Issued by the HKEX (Continued)

General Disclosure/

Key Performance

Indicators Guidelines Page
-RHE/

BRENEE HidEsl EE

B. Society

BAE

Level B1

[EHEB1

General disclosure

— b

Key performance
indicator B1.1
CEEE eI
Key performance
indicator B1.2
BISAAE 1 2

Level B2
[EB2

General disclosure

— b

Key performance
indicator B2.1
RIS ATR B2
Key performance
indicator B2.2
AR 1EB2.2
Key performance
indicator B2.3
RIS ATE 1823

Employment
&R

Remuneration and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, leave, equal opportunity, diversity, anti- 108-111,
discrimination and other benefits and welfare: 17
(@ the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and requlations that have a significant impact on the issue.
ﬁ%ﬁm&%ﬁ~%%&%ﬂ~lﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁ%‘¥%%@~§ﬁk~ﬁﬁﬁUREM%ﬁ&%ﬂ%¢
) BR: R
U HFHET ANAEREBORRER LB ER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time), age group and geographical region. 109

TRRERL ~ IR REREL (R  AFBOALR B R B2 fE 5 A8 -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 110

TRAER - A ROb BB IR B

Health and safety

RREZ2

Providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards: 113-115
(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and requlations that have a significant impact on the issuer.

AIRRAEE 2 TR KRR AR R E R -

() BOK; K

(b) HTHETAFERTEOMBEIER LA LR -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years including the reporting year. 114

W5 ORERER) BERTUHMABRILE -
Lost days due to work injury. 114

RATHERLTHEAY -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored. 113-115

BT SR ARG PR B % 2 450 DA BT R
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avironmental, Social and Governance Report
’ RIE - HERERERE

BITBXREMGH R - HERE
AW EEED @)

Compliance with the Guidelines on
Environmental, Social and Governance Report
Issued by the HKEX (Continued)

General Disclosure/

Key Performance

Indicators
-RHE/
BRENRE

B. Society

BAE

Guidelines

FERol

Page

R

Level B3 Development and training
[EmB3 BERE
General disclosure Policies on improving employees' knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.  116-117
— iR FRRIHE BB LIERER AR LSRR BUR - Sl EaNES -
Key performance The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior management, middle 116-117
indicator B3.1 management).
WSR3 HMAIREREH MAREAE - PRERE) HANZARAE AL -
Key performance The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category. 116-117
indicator B3.2
BRGRIEE32  RURIREBERE D B4R TR NS -
Level B4 Labor standards
[ETEB4 SRR
General disclosure Child labor and forced labor prevention: 117-118
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer.
—fRHE ARG I B T 5 THY -
(a) BUR: R
(b) BTHETAFERTENMBEER LAY LR -
Key performance Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labour. 117-118
indicator B4.1
BRANIEERAY  MEREAEEAN RS ETREHST -
Key performance Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 117-118
indicator B4.2
RERIEERA2  MEERERE ISR A BT R -
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RIE - HE8RE

Compliance with the Guidelines on

-w.

\Aiﬁﬁ:

BIBXFAAMGH RE - HERE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report BIREFE S EE)
Issued by the HKEX (Continued)
General Disclosure/
Key Performance
Indicators Guidelines Page
-REE/
BRENER R B

B. Society

BAE
Level B5
[EMEB5

General disclosure
—
Key performance
indicator B5.1
B U3 851
Key performance
indicator B5.2
B AT 85,2
Key performance
indicator B5.3
B S0 85,3
Key performance
indicator B5.4
B ATIE 185 .4

Supply chain management

REEEE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 119-121
ETHREGM BRI RAL & RRBOR

Number of suppliers by geographical region. 119
BB B B

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, 119-121

and how they are implemented and monitored.

A B RS m AT ARG RS - DRMBAT RER N -

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are 119-121
implemented and monitored.

LA B LR i (IR BT BT Bt & BRI DA BMIBRAT RS

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

AL 1 IR A L 2 PSR R o SR B 1R 0

119-121

il ENE VI
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Compliance with the Guidelines on
Environmental, Social and Governance Report
Issued by the HKEX (Continued)

General Disclosure/

Key Performance

Indicators
-RHE/
BRENRE

B. Society

BAE
Level B6
[ETEB6

General disclosure

— b

Key performance
indicator B6.1
B AR 1861
Key performance
indicator B6.2
BRI 86.2
Key performance
indicator B6.3
RIS AR 1863
Key performance
indicator B6.4
BRI B0 .4
Key performance
indicator B6.5
Bl A5 1286.5

e

AW EEED @)

Guidelines

HEEL

Product Responsibility
EmEf

Information on health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services provided

and methods of redress:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and requlations that have a significant impact on the issuer.
AR AL R AR R 2 - S SRR E RO ) -
() B &
(b) ETHENTAAERTEORBEERAONEH -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.

C BB R 2 A8 e R 2 2 LA L e WY 7 AL

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt with.

U 2 b S B A B B DL BB -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights.

il LA T R Tk A R R -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

W B e B R E SR -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.

ik B R R R AL RREOR DRI E R

Annual Report 2021 —-& ——4E4E

‘Exvironmental, Social and Governance Report
| R - #ERERHKRE

BITBXREMGH R - HERE

Page

R

122-123

N/A
A

122-123

122-123

N/A

AEM
122-123
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HERE

Compliance with the Guidelines on
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

- T T

$ﬁ£t

Issued by the HKEX (Continued)

General Disclosure/

Key Performance
Indicators

-REE/
BRENER
B. Society
BALE
Level B7
JEMB7

General disclosure

— bR

Guidelines

# il

Anti-corruption
R&ES

Prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering:

P FTEME (RIR - HERE
A ERES) @)

Page

B8

124-125

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer.

A LN % HCRE SR AR

(a) BOR: R

(b) WSFEETAHERB RIS R EH -

Key performance Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its employees during the 124-125
indicator B7.1 reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

RRERIEERTY R IREET SRR R T E RSN A FAROBE RFDER -

Key performance Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. 124-125
indicator B7.2

RSIEEe72  WEEEERERET > DRMBBRIT REE I -

Key performance Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 124-125
indicator B7.3

BRSNS WEmEERETRENRETSE -

Level B8 Community investment

[ETHBS HERE

General disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to 124-125

ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

— s FRIDAL RS BRI S E A B e (R B R B &% AL R A G R BOR -

Key performance Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). 124-125
indicator B8.1

Rgsemes ) EEERER WHE  REFEE - FIHK 6 B -

Key performance Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 124-125
indicator B8.2

RESNIEE 882 EETHEHYNER (e BIHH) o

Note: st -

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not generate harmful waste
(A1.3), did not use packaging materials used for finished products (A2.5),
did not have products sold or shipped that need to be recovered for safety
and health reasons (B6.1) and product recovery procedure (B6.4), which
have key performance indicators and are not applicable.
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ARG I, A SR [N R A A B R I(A.3),
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ZReE | (D) pri
U UNITAax \\ = rism
To the shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development
Group Limited (formerly known as Bisu Technology Group

International Limited)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 149 to 283, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independent Auditor’s Report

B A BEN R

UniTax Prism (HK) CPA Limited JCfE%= - 1012 (F2) Gt e =B AT AR
Units 1903A -1905, 19/F No. 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
BEBNFERIPIERICEZES5E19121903A-1905%

HhEBRTFNRREEARAAIURR
FIBLEENESEBEBRERAR)

(B2 B Bt Mk o7 1 A FR 2 7))

=

oA A% 3 i 55 1492 283 H H B ik Al
BREEBAGRAT CATEHEEAR]) &H
e | AN ERE S TEREME]D MiRE B
WE o WA A M B REREER —F —— 41
ZAHA=T—HBNES MBI E > KEREZ
HIE4E 4 A RS A A 2R A R > 4
AHEEBEER LG EHSRER > UGS
R R > O R E G BURME -

RMBL > ZEGEMBWMECRBETES
FHRIA S (G A € )) R 2 i i
BEs MR (s s o e R ) 2
ol BB LR —F _—FE =t
H &R a B IR DL S B 5% H AL 4R B AR
BHMBRB LGB ERE > WO EREE
AL SR S e e TR

ERHNER

FAM CARVE R W & Rl g AR A ) G
FHHERD (MEHEFFAHER) AT HERT - M
AL % 5 Y U R I ) BT TR AS 0 A% S it
A AR A BB R ORIE I B AR W
Ao MRYEFE e SHAA G R CEE g FHnE
fEsF R (Tsp A1) - MBSzt B Em - 3
EJEAT ST P A A S A R AT - A
5 o T BTSRRI RS AE T SRR
R E LIR RE
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B A2 AR

To the shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development
Group Limited (formerly known as Bisu Technology Group
International Limited)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 29
March 2021.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

138
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B A% B A R

To the shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited (formerly known as Bisu

Technology Group International Limited)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition from construction works

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 167-170.

Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
has recognised revenue arising from the construction
services and civil engineering services of approximately
HK$467,552,000, by applying the stage of completion
method of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period. Significant judgements and estimates
have been made by the management when determining
(i) the percentage of completion of each individual
contract with reference to the certificates issued by
the customers and (ii) total contract costs incurred and
expected to be incurred for each individual contract.

We have identified the revenue recognition from
construction works as a key audit matter as it is
quantitatively significant to the consolidated financial
statements and the estimation of the progress and
total contract cost of each individual contract involved
significant management’s judgements and estimates,
which may be subject to management bias.

Our procedures were designed to review the management
judgements and estimates used in the determination of
the progress and total contract costs of each individual
project.

We have assessed the appropriateness of the revenue
recognition policy adopted by the management under
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.

In assessing the management judgements and estimates
in the determination of the total contract costs, we
challenged the reasonableness of the total expected
costs, and compared the actual costs incurred and the
expected costs to be incurred to the latest updated
budgeted contract costs. We also assessed the reliability
of the management’s assessment by investigating
variance between the total actual costs and budgeted
costs for the completed projects during the year.

We have also checked the revenue recognised, on a
sample basis, the certificates issued by the customers,
before and subsequent to year end date and other
relevant correspondences and supporting documents in
respect of variation orders to evaluate the reasonableness
of the revenue recognised.
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FHEBRPNRREEERABDICKRR GIELENKEEERERAR)
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AR TR A KRR
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BRETSE EPHEST N AEEBERESEE

BE_ZZ—FTA=ZT—HIEFE  ZEERER ROOET BEFAEREE 5 EBEE EEmEaR
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TR AR5 2 AR B A4 467,552,000 #EIT o B L IE AE Tl
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% B A R

To the shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited (formerly known as Bisu

Technology Group International Limited)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Valuation of carbon-credit assets

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 182.

Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s carrying value
of carbon-credit assets amounted to HK$193,188,000.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
had recognised a fair value gain on carbon-credit
assets of HK$172,022,000.

The fair value of carbon-credit assets had been
determined using market approach, by reference to
market activity. Fair value measurement had taken
into account the transaction prices involving assets
that are the same or similar to the subject asset
to arrive at an indication of value. The fair value
measurement had assumed that:

— the price information underlying the comparable
represented arm’s length transaction price
involving similar carbon offset credits on or near
the year end date; and

— the price of carbon-credit assets with similar
attributes were comparable.

We have identified the valuation of carbon-credit
assets as a key audit matter because of its significance
to the consolidated financial statements and because
applying the Group’s accounting policies in this area
involves a significant degree of judgement by the
management in assessing the fair value of the carbon-
credit assets.

Our procedures in relation to management’s judgements
used in the valuation assessment of the carbon-credit
assets included:

— obtained an understanding of the management'’s
valuation processes in relation to the carbon-
credit assets and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and other inherent risk
factors,

— challenged the scope of work of the external
valuer and evaluated the appropriateness of the
valuation methodology used which based on their
knowledge and practices;

— involved our valuation experts to discuss with
management and external valuer and reconsider
the appropriateness of valuation methodology
and assumptions used; and

— obtained information to verify the parameters and
data used by the external valuer.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% B A R

To the shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited (formerly known as Bisu

Technology Group International Limited)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Impairment assessment of accounts receivable and contract assets

Refer to notes 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on

page 186-191.

Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of
accounts receivable and contract assets amounted
to HK$32,056,000 and HK$98,256,000 respectively.
Allowance for impairment of accounts receivable
and contract assets is based on lifetime expected
credit losses model, which is estimated by taking
into account the credit loss experience and forward-
looking information including both current and
forecast general economic conditions.

We have identified on the impairment assessment
of accounts receivable and contract assets as a key
audit matter because the material amounts involved,
and the significant judgement and assumptions
involved in the determination of loss allowance
under the expected credit losses model.

Our procedures in relation to management’s judgements
used in the recoverability of accounts receivable included:

— Understanding and evaluating the operating
effectiveness of key internal controls which govern
credit control, debt collection and estimation of
expected credit losses;

— Testing on a sample basis the ageing of accounts
receivable and contract assets as at year end;

— Evaluating the level of provision made by
management for the accounts receivable and
contract assets which based on management’s
estimation of lifetime expected credit losses to be
included with reference to credit loss experience,
ageing of overdue receivable, customers’
repayment history and forecast general economic
conditions;

— Assessing the competency, objectivity and
independent of the external valuer used by
management and discussing with the external
valuer their scope of work, and assessing the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology;
and

— Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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To the shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development
Group Limited (formerly known as Bisu Technology Group
International Limited)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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B A2 AR

To the shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development
Group Limited (formerly known as Bisu Technology Group
International Limited)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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To the shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development
Group Limited (formerly known as Bisu Technology Group
International Limited)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to estimate
threats or safeguards applied.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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To the shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development
Group Limited (formerly known as Bisu Technology Group
International Limited)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Dai Tin Yau.

UniTax Prism (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Dai Tin Yau

Practising Certificate Number: P06318
Hong Kong

23 May 2022
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" Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

and Other Comprehensive Income
relEnkREMEEBAR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WE_F_—HF+_H=t—HILFE

2021 2020
—EB-—F R AR
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5% FET T# T
REVENUE WA 5 468,007 478,321
Cost of sales BB A (432,078) (470,225)
Gross profit EH 35,929 8,096
Other income and gains HoA A K #5 6 2,788 15,059
Fair value gain on carbon-credit assets Bfs I & & A9 feE(E
I 45 20 172,022 =
Research and development costs WFEE A (3,411) =
Administrative and selling expenses T X B B B X (64,602) (45,375)
Equity-settled share option expenses R/ &5 530 s B HE BH <2 (21,789) -
Finance costs B2 H 8 (75,758) (66,213)
Impairment of plant and equipment TR B A Yok (L = (28,416)
Impairment of financial and SR A KB E W E
contract assets (3,529) (152,958)
Impairment of goodwill PR 17 - (16,338)
Operating profit (loss) el (B8 41,650 (286,145)
Gain on extinguishment of convertible &% & AJ #t i £ %% 2 Uk &
bonds, net T 28 - 293,712
Change in valuation of promissory TR S AR A (AR B 1 4
notes, net 29 (37,231) 294,577
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries Hh 65 B B 2 m I A 34 269,220 -
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBL AT A 9 273,639 302,144
Income tax expense e 12 (6,075) (115)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F AT 267,564 302,029
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

REESEREMEERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

~

BE F A= HIREE
2021 2020
—EZ—F e 2
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5% FHET TH# 0
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRER 267,564 302,029
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ~ Hfth2EUWA (BA)
(EXPENSE)
ltem that may be reclassified to profit #ifE Al fEE B M EEH
or loss in subsequent periods: MIEA :
Exchange differences arising on RS I SETS B R 1Y
translation of financial statements BEE 5, 25 7
of foreign operations 1,190 (14,664)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FRZ2EW A ZE
THE YEAR 268,754 287,365
Profit (loss) for the year LR AT ERERER
attributable to: (&18):
Owners of the Company RATEEA 267,651 302,029
Non-controlling interests FEEZE RS (87) >
267,564 302,029
Total comprehensive income DTATEEFEFREZE
(expense) for the year WA (BR) #5
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RATEEA 268,841 287,365
Non-controlling interests FEEZE R (87) >
268,754 287,365
EARNINGS PER SHARE BRER 14
Basic (HK cents) FA R 103.4 151.0
Diluted (HK cents) . (A1) 69.4 84.1
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| /@onsolidated Statement of Financial Position

e T BT R

As at 31 December 2021

S

2021 2020
—EB-—F SR T
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FBT Tt
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Plant and equipment WA St 15 889 512
Right-of-use assets o FMEE 16(a) 11,775 1,887
Goodwill [ 17 = =
Intangible assets WK E 18 2,378 -
Other receivables HoAth E K I 23 2,109 -
Financial asset at fair value through PAZS SufE FHA A 4
other comprehensive income W a2 4 Pl 19 20,000 >
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEELE 37,151 2,399
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Carbon-credit assets Wfs & = 20 193,188 -
Contract assets BHIEE 21 98,256 90,721
Accounts receivable JEM R K 22 32,056 95,024
Prepayments, deposits and other FALTRIE ~ e K
receivables HoAth ik 23 35,205 17,928
Restricted bank deposits 3 PR $RAT 773K 24 695 -
Cash and cash equivalents Bl KBS EY 24 88,266 49,749
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS REEEHAE 447,666 253,422
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Accounts payable JEEAS H K 25 68,553 340,438
Tax payable JREAS ol T - 97
Other payables and accruals HAbREA R KR 26 66,769 86,843
Interest-bearing other borrowings AT A 3K 27 33,000 38,000
Lease liabilities HE A 16(b) 7,278 2,565
Promissory notes TR B 29 - 18,564
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEHEE 175,600 486,507
NET CURRENT ASSETS (LIABILITIES) REIEE (B8F) FE 272,066 (233,085)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEZERRBERE
LIABILITIES 309,217 (230,686)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial P05|t|on
FEMBRRER
As at 31 December 2021
WoEFE 4+ H=1+—H

2021 2020
:g:—ﬂi — ? . EF‘
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 TET THIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Other payables and accruals HAbEST I LR B 26 841 43,224
Interest-bearing other borrowings T A 3 27 6,000 6,000
Lease liabilities HEARE 16(b) 9,295 108
Convertible bonds ] A 5 28 138,286 114,189
Promissory notes LB 29 61,605 271,319
Deferred tax liabilities PR IH £ & 30 6,129 13,403
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  ¥REBESEAE 222,156 448,243
NET ASSETS(LIABILITIES) EE (Bf) #E 87,061 (678,929)
EQUITY s
Share capital i€ 31 3,020 2,000
Reserves ittt 83,854 (680,929)
Equity attributable to owners of AAREEANELER
the Company 86,874 (678,929)
Non-controlling interests By 187 -
TOTAL EQUITY (DEFICIENCY IN R BEFA)
ASSETS) 87,061 (678,929)
Chan Tan Na Donna Chen Xinwei
R £ 13 FRERIE
Chairman Executive Director
FH HirHEH
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&" solldated Statement of ChangeS in Equity
4 mEERgHR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BWE-E-—HF+-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN
Statutory Convertible Share Non-
Share Share surplus Exchange  bonds equity option Accumulated controling  Deficiency
capital  premium lesee  reserve Teserve reserve losses  Subtotal interests in assets
it ThRES

Bh o BMEE QR AEGRE  EaBR BREMR ZoER N HERER  EEAM
HESO0D  HKSOO0  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKFOOD  HK§'000
Tan TA TR TR Tar TR TR TR TRn TR

fnote 32)

(Ka32)
At 1 January 2020 R-Z-ZE-R-H 2,000 45,486 1,085 (27.159) 375,576 = (1311743 (974755) = (974755)
Profit for the year L] - - - - - - 302029 302,029 — 302,029
Other comprehensive expense AR
for the year:
Bichange differences arsngon - B EANERBR AR
translation of financial EiES
statements of foreign operations = = = (14,664) = = = (14,664) = (14664)
Total comprehensive ERAE ER
(lss) income for the year A = = - (14664) = - 008 81365 - 1365
Modification of convertile bonds 5Tt %
(note 28) (Hzk2) - - - - 8461 - - 8461 - 8461
At 31 December 2020 e e <128 ol e o 2000 45,486 1085% (41823 384,037 = (1,089.714)  (678.929) - (678929

Annual Report 2021 =& ——4E4E# 153



-

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Eqwty
mEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BWE—Z-—F+-A=t+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAAREARG
Statutory Convertible Share Non-  (Deficiency
Share Share  Capital surplus~ Exchange ~ bonds equity option  Accumulated controlling ~in assets)
captal  premium  reserve  reserve  reseve resenve reserue losses  Subotal interests total equity
it TEERS BEEY
Br  ROEE Ex@E 0 NtOFEERE  BRAE

Rt MERE  RERE BRRRR  ZiER
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000

At fEn fEm TR TEr  fRm T TR TR TEr TR

(note 32)
(32)

At 1 January 2021 i 2,000 15,486 - 1,085 (183 34037 — (1009714 (678929) - (61899
Prfit o) for the year A R - - - - - - - W65 26765 @) 267564
Other comprefensive income~ ERERATIA :

for the year

Exchange diffrences arsng on SRR EREI Bk

transation of financial LERER

statements of foreign

operations = = = = 119 = = = 1,190 - 1190
Tota comprefensie EREANA G

income o) for he year 47 - - - = 1190 = — WIS 268840 B7) 26875
Cepitel contotion from A FEERERRUASA

non-controlling interests = = = = = - - - - L i
Disposal of subsidares (note 34) & ERE AR (5t - - - (1.085) 40476 - - - 39,391 = 39,391
Futysettd shareoption - WARREE A2

expenses (note 3) B M) - = = = = - N8 - N8 - N
lsue of shares upon comversion - TEEHR ek

of convertble bonds (note 28) 7k (i) M 516 - - - [393%) = - 148 - 1486
lsue of new shares (note 31) SRt (:H31) 80 40305 = = = = = I RE IS
Waier of nerest o amount due EEFHRSUBZ A 8%

{0 4 sharefolder - - 2,161 - - - - - 2,161 - 2,161
At 31 December 2021 e s i oy 300 51475 2,161 - (157 344,649 178 (802,003 86,874 187 87,061

*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserve of  * BE X —F+-HA=+—HILFEE -

HK$83,854,000 in the consolidated statement of financial position ﬁt#ﬁ{%ﬂﬁE@ﬁﬁAQ?Aﬂﬁi‘%ﬂk{Rﬁﬂl”E’J
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: negative reserve of 4E A 183,854,000 00 (ZEZFAE A
HK$680,929,000). ##680,929,000%: J5) o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

—AN Nl —
GEHERER
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BEEZ A=+ HIREE

2021 2020
—EB-—F SR T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TH#TT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXBEENRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax R AT v A1) 273,639 302,144
Adjustments for: T3 HIH 2 s
Change in valuation of promissory RGBS
notes, net 4R 37,231 (294,577)
Depreciation of plant and equipment s KX i 4 85 452 2,898
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i G E e 3,608 3,648
Equity-settled shared option expense B HE &k 34 i % b B 21,789 =
Fair value gain on carbon-credit Bl & EE A A
assets g (172,022) =
Finance costs HAEsE H 75,758 66,213
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries H B B A A i 2R (269,220) S
Gain on extinguishment of Ex LIk Y e
convertible bonds, net Wegi - HEE - (293,712)
Impairment of financial and contract 4l K& %) & BE
assets 3,529 152,958
Impairment of goodwill PR U (E - 16,338
Impairment of plant and equipment  H#% K& M5 i E - 28,416
Interest income FLEMA (102) 3)
Loss on leases modification & 1R 249 -
Provision for inventories £ BB > 6,748
Operating cash flows before BHEEERHH
movements in working capital BB W E (25,089) (8,929)
Decrease in inventories 78w - 3,084
Increase in carbon-credit assets T {5 FH & 344 (21,166) S
Increase in contract assets BHIEER (7,589) (30,142)
Decrease (increase) in accounts JRE SR > ()
receivable 21,092 (37,618)
(Increase) decrease in prepayments, T ARIE - 7 S H A
deposits and other receivables MU R B8 ) Bk (18,360) 26,922
Increase in accounts payable JRE A} B 2K 488 T 20,027 10,863
(Decrease) increase in other payables — H:Atl A 2K & T8 41 2 )
and accruals () B4 (55,010) 40,390
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AN N g —§
GERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BEZ -+ A=+ B IFE

2021 2020
—E-—F R4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Cash (used in) from operations K (R EANBE (86,095) 4,570
Interest received e FE 2 3
Interest paid BRI (2,106) (1,739)
Income tax paid EYRPRES = (62)
Net cash flows (used in) from REER @R E4m
operating activities B4 i R (88,199) 2,772
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REXBELENRE
ACTIVITIES nE
Purchase of financial assets at fair WA A ARl RE A=A
value through other comprehensive A TH R A 2 4 P
income (20,000) =
Acquisition of intangible assets W g AT (2,378) -
Net cash outflow on disposal of HE 5 A 2 ) v B B U
subsidiaries (1,096) -
Acquisition of plant and equipment Wi A 25 B A (827) (122)
Net cash flows used in investing PG EHE A B4
activities Ui A (24,301) (122)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEXBELENRE
ACTIVITIES RE
Interest on promissory notes paid GNP Z SN (50,501) =
Proceeds from issue of shares AT IR A P A5 3KOH 421,135 -
Non-controlling interests arising from — ZEAME & & A 19 I #E iE
additional capital injection HE 4 274 =
Extinguish of promissory notes E B K SRR (210,000) S
Repayment of other borrowings i HoAh f5 30 (5,000) (13,980)
Repayment of lease liabilities B A A B 20 (4,236) (3,014)
Net cash flows from (used in) RUCETEE A (A 1
financing activities BL R el R IE i) 151,672 (16,994)
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\& :
/%9  Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
o ;_L *Y For the year ended 31 December 2021

BWE-E-—HF+-A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—B-—F e e 22
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH BR&RBEE&SE YL
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R D) R 39,172 (14,344)
Cash and cash equivalents at AR R B4 M B S ES)
beginning of year 49,749 64,777
Effect of foreign exchange rate A1 RE [T e 5 )y 5 28 03 B
changes, net 40 (684)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT HARMERLRBELZEY
END OF YEAR 88,961 49,749
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERBRFIIZHE
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS RRSEEYEER
STATED IN THE STATEMENT OF il
CASH FLOWS
Cash and bank balances 4 T ARAT RS R 88,266 48,692
Restricted bank deposits 2 BRI $RAT A7 3K 695 -
Frozen bank balances TRAEERAT 45 B - 1,057
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in H&RERIIIIZHE
the statement of cash flows KB A% EY 88,961 49,749
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

&
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SRR DA SRR

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited (formerly
known as Bisu Technology Group International Limited)
(the “Company”) is an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The registered office address of the Company was located at
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and changed to 89 Nexus Way,
Camana Bay, Grand Cayman, KY1-9009, Cayman Islands
on 4 January 2022. The principal place of business of the
Company is located at Room 3302, 33/F, Global Trade
Square, No. 21 Wong Chuk Hang Road, Hong Kong.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are:

. Trading of carbon-credit assets, carbon credit and
carbon asset development, management and investment
in carbon neutral related fields and carbon consulting
and carbon planning; and the carbon negative business
including industrial carbon negative with a core of
development of Carbon capture, utilisation and storage
(“CCUS") and natural carbon negative focusing on
forest and crop optimisation;

o Civil engineering works and building construction and
maintenance works; and

o The Group was also engaged in the development,
production and sale of the automotive engines which
was disposed and discontinued in the current year.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatory effective
for the year

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first
time, the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") which are effective for the Group’s financial year
beginning 1 January 2021:

Amendments to HKFRS 16~ COVID-19 - Related Rent
Concessions

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKAS 39,
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group has early applied Amendment to
HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions, beyond 30
June 2021.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior periods
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

s to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BEZ -+ A=+ B IFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related
Amendments?
Amendments to  Reference to the Conceptual
HKFRS 3 Framework'

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKFRS 10 and an Investor and its Associate or Joint
HKAS 28 (2011)  Venture?

Amendments to  Classification of Liabilities as Current
HKAS 1 or Non-current and the related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of
Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause?
Amendments to  Disclosure of Accounting Policies?
HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to  Definition of Accounting Estimate?

HKAS 8
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and
HKAS 12 Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction?
Amendments to  Property, Plant and Equipment:
HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use'

Amendments to  Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
HKFRS 37 Contract’

Amendments to  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-
HKFRSs 2020°

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

= Effective for annual period beginning on or after a date to be
determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.
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Ns to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1,
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UNL '

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for carbon credit assets
and certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
values, at the end of each reporting period. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use
its power over the investee to affect the amount of the
Group's returns.

The Group reassess whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above.

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-E -+ H=t—HILFEE

TEETHRME

REE%E
BAEMBMECREFBEFTHAE
WL 1) A s S R ME R AR R - Ut
G SEEMB MR BB A LS
JIT A BR A 3% 25 b i R B B A s A
AR B 7 1 708 T B R o

R HE R - BRRAGHEE s T
ST REA REERE - G5
B R DU 52 pAS o SRR A B o AR
BRI ITES > BRAA BB
A BUES R B TAL

Game
B3 8 BT AR L84 DL R )
P A9 TS S LR 24 AR B B R AR -

AL RIRE TSR A SE I - () R 4
EHG (i) A2 BB RSB T R]
528 ] S 7R 38 I gy A R A 5 G AE
P L BB R 2 M R B
# o

ik 2 B 17 0L S W L ST At 42 o TR

REP-HAZHEAE > WALHE
HAR TR R PALETT

Annual Report 2021 — & " —F4FH 161



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

&

162

SRR DA SRR

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s
voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

—  The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

- Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote
holders or other parties;

- Rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

- Any additional facts and circumstances indicate that the
Company has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

The Group reassess whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary. Income and expenses of the
subsidiary are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date
of the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.
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Ns to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between entities of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to
the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint
operation:

e jts assets, including its shares of any assets held jointly;

o its liabilities, including its shares of any liabilities
incurred jointly;

o its revenue from the sale of share of the output arising
from the joint operation;

o its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by
the joint operation; and

o its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to particular assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses.

e ISR
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at the acquisition date fair value
which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
For each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets.
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition
related costs are expensed as incurred.

All other components of non-

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes on input and
substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs.
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Ns to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-
based payment transactions and leasing transactions, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable
inputs. Specifically, the Group categorized the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics
of inputs, as follow:

Level T — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair
value measurement.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Group
uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer;

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in
the contract;

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price;

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract;
and

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the

entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially same.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e  The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

. The Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

e The Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected
on behalf of third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration from the customer. A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

Civil engineering works and building construction and
maintenance works

ii. Sales, development and operation of carbon credit
assets

iii. Provision of carbon neutral advisory service and
informatisation service

iv.  Development and operation of negative carbon emission
business

Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as a
construction contract when the contract relates to work on
an asset under the control of the customer and therefore the
Group’s construction activities create or enhance an asset
under the customer’s control.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Over time recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of performance
obligation (Output method)

engineering works and building

revenue

Revenue from civil
construction and maintenance works is recognised over time.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is
to recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements
of the value of the goods or services transferred to the
customer to date relative to the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.

Trading of carbon-credit assets

For trading of carbon-credit assets to the market and
carbon credit exchange, the Group considers the revenue is
recognised when the control of the goods has transferred,
being when the title of the goods have been transferred
to the customers and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. The
customer has accepted the products and the performance
obligation is satisfied at a point in time at which the title
of the carbon-credit assets are transferred according to the
term of sales contract.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when
the customer purchases the carbon-credit assets.

Contract costs
Costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are
capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

a. The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

b.  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to

satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

c.  The costs are expected to be recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Contract costs (Continued)

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs are
expensed as incurred.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For the contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract or
modification date. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term
leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases,
the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease
unless another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted
by using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

e fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments); and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a significant event
or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using revised discount rate.

o the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the
lease payments change is due to a change in a floating
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is
used).

o a lease contract is modified and the lease modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs,
less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs
an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased
asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, provision is recognised and
measured under HKAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets. The costs are included in the related
right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and
adjusted for any measurement of lease liabilities other than
adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from Covid-19-
related rent concessions in which the Group applied the
practical expedient. They are depreciated over the shorter
period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.
The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the
lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-
of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified
impairment loss.

Lease modification

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts
for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

—  The modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

—  The consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with
respect to one of its leased properties. Leases for which the
Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases.
Whenever the term of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration under the contract to each component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated
to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for
the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts.
The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease, rather than by reference to the underlying asset. If
the head lease is a short-term lease to which the group
applies the exemption described above, the sublease shall
be classified as an operating lease.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences arising on a monetary item
that forms part of the net investment in a foreign operation,
in which case, such exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity and
will be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal
of the foreign operation. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control
over a joint arrangement that includes a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition, in relation to
a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed
to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit
or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in
the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences
is reclassified to profit or loss.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-E -+ H=t—HILFEE

TEETHRME @

ShE (&)
B BN RS (RD B A SR B AE
SN ) AR A o B O i
ES F RERUPAE S gl iy N TDEEY
HE > BB W R B R A AN S
9 & 28 Al B SC A R A > s S v
REWE N FNERLES) > A
KEE BT R AHE 2 (9 S B R A 2w HE
i AT B I A R L 2% 0 ) 4 R )
MEBRE o WA BRI A EEER
4 1B 5% 25 3 R Y D 2 ) 2 o E 0 47
W - AL B AR R
91473 U R B S R MM AR > HL
AEF AR o B P A HALER 0
(BB 23 ) i 28 R B 43 i B R
B HOR AL e R B ) B3t
PEHIHE) AJEE%?¢mw%%ﬁ
L Eivipig EEi sk

BB

R B B2 R G B AR R i ) 4 B
A AF & B A B AE - JHE KA
(ERERD o & # B L S IH B A B i
TEAH B AT AR 2 4 48 00 Sk A 1R > i
RBRERD U <

Annual Report 2021 =&~ —F4FEH 177



~

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements LI
fRE SRR R M EE » |

For the year ended 31 December 2021

&

178

SRR DA SRR

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Retirement benefits costs and termination benefits
Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for
that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of plant and equipment other than construction-in-progress
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents machineries in the
process of installation, which is stated and at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of installation and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowed funds during the period of installation.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of plant and equipment when completed and ready
for use.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately (Continued)
Customer contracts

Customer contracts secured on the date of acquisition are
recognised as cost of goods sold under the unit of production
method which is based on the volume of production in each
reporting period as a proportion of the total estimated units
of production for the relevant customer contracts over the
contract period.

Cross-boarder licence plates

Cross-boarder license plates of the Group are regarded
to have indefinite useful lives as they are renewable on a
periodic basis with the appropriate authority and there is no
foreseeable limit to the number of renewals and the period
over which these assets are expected to generate cash flows
for the Group.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale,
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Carbon-credit asset

Carbon-credit asset is capitalised and can be readily to be
traded when it is verified by certain international approved
organisations. For the carbon-credit assets which are directly
purchased, the carbon-credit assets are initially measured
at cost, which including purchase cost and other variable
purchase expenses. For the carbon-credit assets which are
generated and developed under projects, the carbon-credit
assets are initially measured at cost, which including the
project costs and certain expenses for the application and
verification.

At the end of each reporting period, carbon-credit assets are
measured at fair value. Fair value is based on prices of similar
products at international active markets where the carbon-
credit assets can be sold. Changes in fair value of carbon
credit assets are recognised as a separate line of “fair value
changes in carbon-credit assets” in consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Carbon-credit assets is derecognised when the Group
disposes of the inventory through its trading activities or
when the Group otherwise loss control and therefore, access
to the economic benefits associated with ownership of the
carbon-credit assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value, except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets
are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured
at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"”), and fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL").

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them.

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-E -+ H=t—HILFEE

TEETHRME @

o =

o B AR % T B M AR ST i —
T > A A B R A A
BAR UL R AR o

<5l 7 D < B R0 O O SR B
A (HEEF G ELNE S B
R 4 IR AT U 5 i o B B2 1 S 9t iE
(ERRCE R SR ) ) Ne 6
ERVEEMSRE R (o REETEA
fﬁ%%@%?ié@ﬁﬁ%%iﬁm

B TR 17 AR < il e A
@Aﬁﬁﬁ¢%m3W% LA 5
S FAPIN LRI N AN SE I of
A B4 B AR 52 B AR S B RR A

R o

TRMEE

BT DA R 2 E B 6 e i
W28 5 BITEZE 5 B H#EAT %E & Ik
F8 o KLY AN E el B R AR T A
ﬁ%%ﬁjﬁﬁﬁmmﬁﬁfﬁmﬁ
A5 7 1) 4 Tl T B

P A7 8 e xS 4% AR
B EEERNE  HeEMEEN
ST S o <5 5 A 0 0 T Ry
FA T FLAR 1 R B A S A N AR AE R
AFAb 2 mA (M1 2 s fEE A
b EHWCASINR]) - A& A SREEFEA
Hid (HEA AREERARBIIR])

<6l E T ) U ke R R ) 0 SRR A

4 Rl A A B U AR RO AR AR
T 2 A TR, ©

Annual Report 2021 =&~ —F4FE#H 183



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BEZ -+ A=+ B IFE

184

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at mortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

- The financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash follows; and

—  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.

(i)  Amortised cost and effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected
life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the
debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount
at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any loss allowance.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at mortised cost (debt instruments)

(Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method
(Continued)
Interest income is recognised using the effective inter